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u-blox is a leading global 
provider of innovative 
positioning products and 
solutions. 
The Group employs 100 people 
in 7 countries, and has offices in 
its key markets. u-blox is listed 
on the SWX Swiss Exchange under 
ticker symbol UBXN.

Founded in 1997, u-blox develops 
leading positioning technology, 
products and services based on 
Global Navigation Satellite Systems (GNSS), 
including GPS and GALILEO, for the automotive, 
mobile communications and infrastructure markets. 

It provides innovative positioning solutions for a broad 
range of original equipment and device manufacturers 
worldwide through a range of compact, cost-efficient 
positioning products and services designed to deliver high 
performance positioning functionality to a wide spectrum of 
end products. 

u-blox has a 10-year track record in this field, supported by strong 
product development and a global distribution network.
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Cash flow from operations

Key figures for 2007 
Revenue  

Total CHF 78.36m 

Growth rate over 2006 44.1%
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Chairman’s Statement 

We are pleased to report on what has been an exceptional and, we believe, pivotal 
year for u-blox. In the 10th year of its existence, u-blox went public. A successful IPO in 
October 2007 bolstered the capital base of the company and has left it perfectly poised 
to take advantage of the growing opportunities in this exciting market. At the same 
time, demand for GPS products and solutions grew strongly over the year and u-blox 
responded by strengthening its product base with the development of a of whole new 
GPS receiver platform. 

Encouragingly, there were a number of strong signals that the growth of the GPS industry 
is set to continue as a growing number of mobile phone providers began to incorporate 
positioning technology in their devices and the demand for in-car automotive navigation 
systems and after-market asset tracking applications surged. 

Mobile device Internet connectivity and the ability to receive and use location-based infor-
mation and services constitute major value-added features for a wide variety of mobile 
applications. These developments, together with new broadband wireless standards, all 
point to sustained future growth in the industry as a whole in the coming fiscal year. 

At the upcoming general assembly, I will be stepping down as u-blox Chairman, as an-
nounced before u-blox went public. It has been a pleasure to work with such a dynamic 
and innovative company and I am confident they will continue on a strong growth path 
in the years to come. u-blox has a global presence, a sound strategic direction, a strong 
brand and an excellent product portfolio, all of which will support the future develop-
ment of the company.

On behalf of the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee, I would like to thank 
you, dear shareholder, for your trust and your loyalty.

I would also like to thank our customers. We enjoy long-standing business partnerships 
with many of our customers, who have been instrumental in our success and have grown 
with us. Trust in u-blox means trust in forward-looking products and technologies with a 
strong customer focus.

Finally, the remarkable growth of our business and the strengthening of our financial so-
lidity we achieved in fiscal year 2007 were only possible thanks to the unrelenting effort 
and excellent contributions from all u-blox employees. My best thanks go out to every 
one of our colleagues for their daily initiatives and dedication.

Edzard Reuter      
Chairman of the Board of Directors

“A successful IPO in October 
2007 bolstered the capital 
base of the company and has 
left it perfectly poised to take 
advantage of the growing 
opportunities in this exciting 
market.” 
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Thomas Seiler

CEO 

“In this buoyant market, both our 
chip and module businesses per-
formed strongly in 2007, enabling us 
to achieve and surpass our targets”

Letter from CEO and CFO 

Dear Shareholders,

During 2007, the market for GPS receiver technology saw substantial growth. The 
increasing demand for location-based products and services impacted nearly all GPS-
enabled applications. 

2007 was a historic year for u-blox. In October, the company listed on the SWX Swiss 
Exchange. The IPO has improved our cash position, which will help finance the company’s 
future growth as well as increase customer awareness and customer and supplier confi-
dence in the company’s sound financial standing. Secondly, the company introduced the 
new u-blox 5 GPS receiver generation. This major achievement paves the way for addi-
tional gains in market share and better margins.      

Market expansion

The automotive sector saw sustained demand during 2007. Major car manufacturers 
announced plans to incorporate GPS into several future car lines. Our sensor-based dead 
reckoning technology constitutes a key differentiator in the OEM automotive market. 
High positioning accuracy and reliability are critical for in-car navigation systems where 
u-blox continues to enjoy a competitive advantage due to the high performance of its 
positioning engines.

Sales in the after-market automotive devices sector remained strong throughout fiscal 
year 2007. The ability to locate goods and services worldwide is enabling companies to 
manage their goods and vehicles much more efficiently. Smaller, more affordable GPS en-
gines pushed the market for asset tracking products forward, enabling OEMs and ODMs 
to incorporate GPS engines into an ever-larger number of after-market tracking and 
navigation products. We expect growth in this sector to continue, driven by an increasing 
number of tracking and portable navigation products.

Players in the mobile phone market introduced new GPS-enabled mobile phones, pro-
moting this new feature heavily. The combination of mobile devices’ Internet connectivity 
and their ability to receive and use location-based information and services constitutes 
a major value-added feature for a wide variety of applications and is driving the market 
forward. We expect this trend to continue, with major players in the market having an-
nounced their intention, within the next couple of years, to build GPS functionality into 
many of their future mobile phone product lines. 

The precision timing infrastructure market showed signs of becoming a major growth 
market as mobile network equipment manufacturers looked at using GPS technology 
to easily and affordably synchronize their UMTS and CDMA networks. In the consumer 
sector, our precision timing technology is being incorporated into femtocells that act as 
home-based base stations, enabling short-range broadband wireless networks.
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Dynamic organic growth

In this buoyant market, both our chip and module businesses performed strongly in 
2007, enabling us to achieve and surpass our targets. Sales volumes steadily increased 
throughout the year and have reached new record levels. Consolidated sales increased 
to CHF 78.36 million in 2007, which represents a growth of 44.1% over the previous 
exercise. Adjusted profit from operations (EBIT) rose from CHF 8.02 million to CHF 12.03 
million, an increase of 50% over the previous year. Adjusted net profit increased by 
54.9% from CHF 8.24 million to CHF 12.77 million, which represents a 16.3% adjusted 
net profit margin for 2007. 

Cash flow from operations grew strongly from CHF 8.78 million to CHF 16.66 million.
To keep up with demand, we have strengthened our presence in Asia, Switzerland and 
the US by hiring additional staff and opening new representative offices. Furthermore, 
u-blox opened a customer design support center in Singapore, to enhance customer sup-
port capabilities in this region and to efficiently address customer needs, especially those 
in the chipset business.

Strong product line-up

The company has optimally diversified risk with a product portfolio that addresses a   
variety of markets, from the high-volume consumer devices market to the automotive 
market characterized by higher quality requirements and longer product lifecycles. During 
2007, u-blox entered into new business relationships with leading players in its industry.
u-blox’s extensive product portfolio leveraged growth opportunities across many new 
applications. The ANTARIS 4 product line contributed to the strong increase in sales in 
all business areas. The award-winning SuperSense high sensitivity technology, capable of 
tracking the weaker GPS signals typical of indoor environments and dense urban areas, 
performed strongly. High sensitivity solutions gained traction throughout 2007 as several 
new handsets came into the market that incorporated u-blox GPS modules endowed 
with SuperSense technology. 

The development of the new u-blox 5 GPS chipset was complete with the final silicon 
chip becoming available in late 2007 and the final firmware released at year’s close. This 
new chipset generation combines outstanding performance with important features such 
as very short time to first fix, low power consumption, high sensitivity and best accuracy. 
Key customers received the new chipset generation eagerly, and the company expects it 
will be well accepted in all market sectors – automotive, mobile terminal and infrastruc-
ture –, and that it will attract new business opportunities. The introduction of the u-blox 5 
product generation will also lead to an improved control of the value chain. 

In the name of the Executive Committee, we wish to thank all u-blox employees for their 
outstanding performance without which we would not have achieved so much in 2007.

 
 
Thomas Seiler     Jean Pierre Wyss
CEO      CFO 

Jean-Pierre Wyss

CFO 

“Sales volumes steadily increased 
throughout the year and have   
reached new record levels. 
Consolidated sales increased to  
CHF 78.36 million in 2007, which 
represents a growth of 44.1% over  
the previous exercise.”



14 15

We develop and market leading positioning technology and products, including chipsets, 
modules, software and services, for the Global Positioning System (“GPS”) and other 
Global Navigation Satellite Systems (“GNSS”). Our products are designed to provide loca-
tion awareness capabilities in automotive, mobile terminal and infrastructure applications. 
Location awareness functionality allows users to determine and use location information 
in a broad range of applications and services including navigation, automatic vehicle loca-
tion and asset tracking, security, traffic control and road pricing products and services. 
Our products currently use GPS, the US government’s satellite system that provides longi-
tude, latitude and time information to GPS receivers. GPS-enabled devices located virtu-
ally anywhere in the world can use this information to establish a position at any given 
time. Our product portfolio comprises integrated circuits designed to receive high radio 
frequency (“RF”) satellite signals (called “RF chips”) and powerful microprocessor inte-
grated circuits (“ICs”) designed to calculate a position via GPS (called “baseband chips”). 
Together, these two chips form a complete GPS receiver solution in the form of a chipset. 
We also integrate these chips into receiver modules, which form a complete sub-assembly 
that offers simple and easy integration of GPS functionality into virtually any system. In 
addition, we develop and provide related software as well as assistance data services. 

We operate as a fabless company, outsourcing the manufacturing of all our chips and 
modules to world-renowned suppliers, chosen for their reputation, competitive pricing 
and market-leading expertise in the manufacture of chips and modules. This business 
model allows us to focus on our core strengths, which are the design, development and 
marketing of positioning solutions. Moreover, our business strategy enables us to benefit 
from the scalability intrinsic to such a business model. By removing the need for the sig-
nificant capital expenditures associated with chip and module manufacturing, we are able 
to minimize fixed costs and to gain access to high quality manufacturing capabilities. This 
fabless business model allows us to take full advantage of the R&D as well as the sourc-
ing and logistics capabilities of our suppliers. 

Our chipset production partners are TSMC Taiwan, Chartered Semiconductor Singapore, 
Amkor Philippines and Atmel. Flextronics International is our module supplier. All our 
partners maintain quality assurance systems and are certified according to ISO 9001:2000 
and TS 16949 automotive standards.

We market and sell our products to original equipment manufacturers (“OEM”) and origi-
nal design manufacturers (“ODM”), who integrate our technology into a broad range 
of consumer and business-to-business applications. We ease our customer’s integration 
efforts by providing commercial and technical support in order to minimize their devel-
opment efforts and accelerate their products’ time-to-market. Our sales revenues stem 
mainly from the sale of GPS chipsets and modules. 

Our headquarters are located in Thalwil, Switzerland, where our research and develop-
ment (“R&D”), European sales and administrative functions are based. u-blox also has 
subsidiaries in the USA, Singapore and Hong Kong and additional representative offices in 
China, Taiwan, Korea and Japan.

Business Overview 

Our products are designed to 
provide location awareness 
capabilities in automotive, 
mobile terminal and 
infrastructure applications.  
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Fiscal Year 2007

Financial highlights

	 l Consolidated sales increased by 44.1% to CHF 78.36 million in 2007.
	 l Adjusted profit from operations (EBIT) rose from CHF 8.02 million to CHF 12.03  
  million, up 50% from the previous year. 
	 l Adjusted net profit increased by 54.9% from CHF 8.24 million to CHF 12.77  
  million, which represents a 16.3% adjusted net profit margin for 2007. 
	 l Cash flow from operations grew strongly from CHF 8.78 million to CHF 16.66 
  million.

Buoyant sales

The number of invoiced modules grew during the year 2007 by approximately 74%. 
Turnover grew in all geographical regions, with the Americas representing 27.5% of 
global turnover, EMEA 37.9% and Asia Pacific 34.6%. Asia Pacific saw the largest sales 
growth, with 70% compared to 2006. Sales growth rate in EMEA was 52% and in the 
Americas was 14%.

In Asia Pacific, u-blox’ main markets are asset tracking and mobile terminal products. 
Both areas saw a high increase in demand and an expansion in the number of customers.
In EMEA, the company was able to maintain its position as one of the leaders in the GPS 
module market, increase sales and develop a strong customer base mainly in the automo-
tive after markets. Furthermore, the ANTARIS chipset allowed u-blox to become a signifi-
cant player in the European OEM automotive business.

In the Americas, u-blox’ main markets are fleet management systems and asset tracking, 
where u-blox is the market leader. In 2007, u-blox expanded its business into consumer 
applications, for example for golf tracking products.

In 2007, the company made about 80% of turnover from sales to 61 customers and u-
blox’ biggest customer accounted for less than 5% of the total sales turnover. u-blox was 
able to increase the total number of customers compared to the year 2006 and reach a 
wider global spread over the different regions and markets.

Increased gross profit

Adjusted gross profit increased by 34.9% to CHF 30.57 million in 2007 from CHF 22.66 
million in 2006. Adjusted gross margin was 39.0% for 2007 compared to 41.7% for 
2006. The decrease in relative margin in 2007 was primarily due to an increased volume 
of ANTARIS 4 based modules being sold at lower average selling prices for customers in 
the mobile terminals sector.

Consolidated income statement

8
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Table 1: Income Statement     

Financial Highlights

• Consolidated sales increased by 44.1% to CHF 78.36 million in 2007.

(in CHF 000s)
% sales % sales

Sales 78'360 100.0% 54'380 100.0%

Cost of sales -49'810 -63.6% -31'892 -58.6%

Gross profit 28'550 36.4% 22'488 41.4%

Distribution and marketing expenses -10'821 -13.8% -7'776 -14.3%

Research and development expenses -9'653 -12.3% -5'803 -10.7%

General and administrative expenses -3'410 -4.4% -2'113 -3.9%

Other income 855 1.1% 341 0.6%

Profit from operations (EBIT) 5'521 7.0% 7'137 13.1%

Financial income 665 0.8% 256 0.5%

Finance costs -1'932 -2.5% -437 -0.8%

Profit before income taxes (EBT) 4'254 5.4% 6'956 12.8%

Income taxes 1'190 1.5% 404 0.7%

Net profit 5'444 6.9% 7'360 13.5%

Profit from operations (EBIT) 5'521 7'137
Depreciation and amortization 3'346 1'920
EBITDA (unaudited) (1) 8'867 11.3% 9'057 16.7%

Adjusted figures (all adjusted figures are not audited)

Adjustments 7'321 9.3% 879 1.6%

Adjusted Gross profit (2) 30'568 39.0% 22'661 41.7%

Adjusted EBIT (3) 12'027 15.3% 8'016 14.7%

Adjusted EBITDA (4) 15'373 19.6% 9'936 18.3%

Adjusted Net profit (5) 12'765 16.3% 8'239 15.2%

(1) Management calculates EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) by adding back
depreciation and amortization to profit from operations (EBIT), in each case determined in accordance with IFRS.

(2) Adjusted Gross profit is Gross profit adjusted by share-based payments and related social security costs,
one time IPO costs and accruals for litigation expenses.

(3) Adjusted EBIT is EBIT adjusted by share-based payments and related social security costs, one-time IPO costs
and accruals for litigation expenses.

(4) Adjusted EBITDA is EBITDA adjusted by share-based payments and related social security costs, one-time IPO
costs and accruals for litigation expenses.

(5) Adjusted Net profit is Net profit adjusted by share-based payments and related social security costs, one-time
IPO costs and accruals for litigation expenses.

For the year ended December 31,
2007 2006
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Expansion of distribution and marketing activities

Distribution and marketing expenses increased in 2007, mainly due to commissions from 
higher levels of sales and to increased personnel costs incurred from the further expan-
sion of support offices in Asia Pacific, Europe and the US. Albeit, distribution and market-
ing expenses in relation to sales fell from 14.3% in 2006 to 13.8% in 2007.

Focus on research and product development

During 2007, u-blox hired additional Research and Development (R&D) staff, both in 
hardware and software, to strengthen its team of highly talented R&D engineers in 
Thalwil, Switzerland. R&D expenses in relation to sales rose from 10.7% to 12.3%. This 
will further strengthen the company’s commitment and strategic focus on R&D, to ensure 
that its product portfolio, technology and IP platforms remain competitive in the market.

Strong increase of adjusted profit from operations (EBIT)

On an adjusted basis, EBIT increased by 50% to CHF 12.03 million in the year 2007 from 
CHF 8.02 million in the previous year. Due to operational leverage the adjusted growth of 
EBIT compared to sales growth was higher. Adjusted EBIT margin increased from 14.7% 
in 2006 to 15.3% in 2007. Adjusted EBITDA margin increased to 19.6% in 2007.

Adjustments details: u-blox’ Initial Public Offering (IPO) at the SWX Swiss Exchange led to 
the following related expenses reflected in the income statement of 2007:  
 l Share-based payments incl. related social security costs: CHF 3.986 million
	 l Consulting fees for lawyers, auditors, PR   CHF 0.815 million

In addition, adjustments were made for accruals relating to litigation expenses. 

Condensed Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Investment activities

In 2007, main investments were CHF 1.9 million in capitalized development costs, and 
approximately CHF 1.4 million in office and laboratories expansion. Furthermore,   
CHF 1.2 million were invested in IT infrastructure and production tools. As a comparison, 
in 2006, the company divested the CHF 3.0 million in the fixed-term deposit, and   
CHF 2.6 million was spent in outsourced development costs for the u-blox 5 chipset. 
Furthermore, u-blox invested approximately CHF 1.0 million in new furniture, tools,   
IT infrastructure and equipment. 

Doubling of operational cash flow

In 2007, u-blox generated cash from operating activities in the amount of CHF 16.66 mil-
lion up from CHF 8.78 million in 2006, reflecting a strong increase in the company’s sales 
and profitability.

Page 19 / table changed 

(in CHF 000s) 2007 2006

Net cash provided by operating activities 16'663 8'775

Net cash used in investing activities -4'974 -558

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 58'870 -814

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 70'559 7'403

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 16'011 8'697

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and -648 -89
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 85'922 16'011

For the year ended December 31,

The personnel expansion will fur-
ther strengthen the company’s 
commitment and strategic focus 
on R&D to ensure that its prod-
uct portfolio, technology and IP 
platforms remain competitive in 
the market.
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Operations 2007 

u-blox’ major achievement in 2007 was the completion of the development of the   
u-blox 5 chip generation and its industrialization. We successfully demonstrated first silicon 
samples at work in February 2007 at the 3GSM show held in Barcelona and delivered 
u-blox 5 samples. Our product offering was completely overhauled with the addition of 
the u-blox 5 platform. u-blox 5-based chips and modules were designed to closely meet 
the specific needs of our markets. For instance, the newly introduced KickStart function 
addresses our customers’ products’ need for a fast GPS receiver start up. The introduction 
of u-blox 5 enhances our business model, enabling us to sell both chipsets and modules. 
u-blox 5 has brought about a sharp increase in market awareness and has attracted great 
interest from major OEMs and ODMs.

We expanded the ANTARIS 4 product line by introducing new features and form factors, 
all of which helped u-blox reach new market sectors and applications. 

We entered into strategic partnerships with TSMC, Chartered Semiconductor and Amkor 
for the production of u-blox 5. Our internal processes and tools were adapted and ex-
panded accordingly.

In accordance with our company vision “your position is our focus”, we continued to 
strengthen our relationships with customers through a sustained investment in marketing 
and technical support activities. In line with our commitment to customer support, we 
opened new offices in Japan, Korea and Taiwan and substantially increased the number 
of u-blox staff in all regions. This initiative has helped further expand and diversify our 
customer base.

In order to fulfill the quality requirements of our customers, in particular in the automo-
tive market, we have further optimized our internal processes and have obtained the ISO 
9001:2000 certification for our quality assurance system, a necessary development to 
support our high growth.

The number of employees worldwide has increased to 87 full-time equivalent employees 
as of end of 2007, 28 of which are based outside of Switzerland. We recruited additional 
marketing and technical support staff and increased our R&D capacity by hiring additional 
engineers in Switzerland.  

In response to our strong growth, we increased our office space at our headquarters in 
Thalwil, Switzerland and in Reston, Virginia. We also expanded our laboratory and IT 
infrastructure. 

Finally, we pursued our close collaboration with research institutes and universities, par-
ticipating in several projects aimed at developing next generation positioning solutions. 
Our participation in the European Union GALILEO project has helped us to keep close 
ties with this emerging satellite navigation system. We have also contracted out various 
research projects to universities in order to increase our research and product develop-
ment capacity.

Financing activities

The proceeds from the issue of shares at the SWX Swiss Exchange and the exercise of 
employee stock options, net of transaction costs, were CHF 59.4 million. 

Strong balance sheet 

u-blox was able to further strengthen its balance sheet due to the IPO and the strong 
underlying business.
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Strong Balance Sheet

u-blox was able to further strengthen its balance sheet due to the IPO and the strong underlying business.

 

Table 3: Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet  

SECTION 5 

Operations 2007 

u-blox' major achievement in 2007 was the completion of the development of the u-blox 5 chip
generation and its industrialization. We successfully demonstrated first silicon samples at work in early
2007 at the 3GSM show in Barcelona and delivered u-blox 5 samples and first mass production quantities
thereafter. Our product offering was completely overhauled with the addition of the u-blox 5 platform.
u-blox 5-based chips and modules were designed to closely meet the specific needs of our markets. For
instance, the newly introduced KickStart function addresses our customers' products' need for a fast GPS
receiver start up. The introduction of u-blox 5 enhances our business model, enabling us to sell both
chipsets and modules. u-blox 5 has brought about a sharp increase in market awareness and has
attracted great interest from major OEMs and ODMs.

(in CHF 000s) 2007 2006

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 85'922 16'011
Other current assets 15'350 12'889
Total current assets 101'272 28'900

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 2'511 1'029
Intangible assets 3'129 2'637
Financial assets 247 161
Deferred tax assets 6'034 4'508
Total non-current assets 11'921 8'335

Total assets 113'193 37'235

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities 14'210 7'577
Non-current liabilities 1'381 1'216
Total liabilities 15'591 8'793

Shareholders' equity
Share capital 5'619 4'226
Share premium 101'860 39'504
Cumulative translation differences 156 249
Accumulated losses -10'033 -15'537
Total equity 97'602 28'442

Total liabilities and equity 113'193 37'235

At December 31

Condensed consolidated balance sheet

The introduction of u-blox 5 
enhances our business model, 
enabling us to sell both chipsets 
and modules. 
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Our products and services consist of GPS receiver chipsets, modules, software, assis-
tance data services and intellectual property (IP). In addition, we procure accessories such 
as GPS antennas for our customers, to ease their efforts in the purchasing of associ-
ated parts. We develop standard, off-the-shelf products for our markets, enabling us 
to achieve large economies of scale. We have a unique product portfolio strategy that 
consists in developing and supplying both chips and modules. Our module customers 
benefit from our in-depth and proprietary knowledge of GPS semiconductor technol-
ogy while our chipset customers benefit from our know-how in developing chipsets for 
high-volume applications. Moreover, chipset customers can begin a design by integrating 
a module and subsequently migrate to a chip design. This scalable approach accelerates 
their products’ time-to-market, cuts integration efforts and development costs and en-
ables them to benefit from the cost reductions associated with high volume production.

Chipsets 

Our chipsets are designed to enable our OEM and ODM customers to quickly integrate 
GPS functionality into their products. They are currently available in two product genera-
tions: ANTARIS 4 and u-blox 5. All our chipsets support assistance data service functional-
ity (A-GPS) and offer indoor signal acquisition and tracking capabilities. 

  
 

Products and Services 

u-blox 5 chipset and single chip solutions

The radio frequency integrated circuit is an analogue circuit that detects and processes 
GPS satellites’ radio frequency signals. The digital signal processing circuit is a specific mi-
croprocessor that processes those signals at high speeds. We developed our new chipset, 
u-blox 5, entirely in-house, using existing and newly conceived proprietary technology.

Modules 

Modules incorporate chipsets into a fully functional sub-assembly, delivering a completely 
tested GPS receiver solution. GPS modules are easy to integrate into a final product, cut-
ting our customers’ development efforts and accelerating their products’ time-to-market.

Our modules are available in three form factors, the NEO, LEA and TIM. We believe our 
strong position in the module market has led to these form factors becoming the industry 
standards. 

The NEO, LEA and TIM module series, available with u-blox 5 and ANTARIS 4 positioning engines

GPS modules are easy to   
integrate into a final product, 
cutting our customers’ develop-
ment efforts and accelerating 
their products’ time-to-market.

ANTARIS 4 chipset and single chip solutions
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u-blox5 
GPS and GALILEO Positioning Engine

Software 

We offer software products that enhance our chipsets’ capabilities and intellectual 
property cores that are designed to provide functionalities to the basic receiver software 
of the baseband chip. We believe that our award-winning SuperSense high sensitivity 
technology and our brand new KickStart weak signal acquisition technology are currently 
the most advanced technologies for indoor positioning. For automotive systems, we have 
developed Dead Reckoning software technology that combines GPS satellite data with 
sensor-based data to provide uninterrupted, accurate navigation in areas with obstructed 
views to satellites. Dead Reckoning works by extrapolating a user’s location using the last 
known GPS position, distance traveled and angle information. For tracking applications, 
we have developed a Data Logger, which consists of software that stores waypoints into 
the receiver’s memory for later retrieval and analysis.

Our u-center software is a powerful GPS analysis, testing and configuration tool. This 
software, which we provide free of cost, runs on any Windows-based PC. Our recently 
introduced u-center mobile runs on Windows Mobile-based Pocket PC handheld devices 
such as PDAs, offering our customers the possibility to test and evaluate GPS on-the-go. 
Launched in 2001, u-center has become renowned throughout the industry for its pow-
erful controls, visualization and analysis features. 

Assistance data 

We provide assistance data to our customers or directly to their GPS receivers to boost 
receiver performance at start-up. Assistance data consists of current and future satel-
lite position data. A-GPS information is delivered via a standard TCP/IP connection and 
enables a GPS receiver to quickly calculate a position, effectively replacing the slow data 
download from satellites typical of autonomous GPS operation. We procure assistance 
data via two service models, Online and Offline. With the AssistNow Online service, as-
sistance data is supplied to the receiver at each receiver start-up; with AssistNow Offline, 
the assistance data is stored in the receiver and valid for up to 14 days, enabling applica-
tions that do not have Internet connectivity at start-up. 

u-blox product and service overview

u-blox GPS receiver platforms and product form factors

A-GPS information enables a 
GPS receiver to quickly calculate 
a position, effectively replacing 
the slow data download from 
satellites typical of autonomous 
GPS operation. 
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Markets

We categorize the GPS market as follows:

Automotive

The automotive market includes products for automotive, marine, agricultural applica-
tions, fleet management, vehicle and asset tracking and road pricing. 

In 2007, the market for Portable Navigation Devices (PNDs) continued to enjoy strong 
growth and is expected to double in volume in 2008. These devices have emerged as a 
less expensive alternative to fixed in-car navigation systems. Fleet management solutions 
saw their incorporation into a growing number of fleets as insurance companies increas-
ingly require assets to be tracked. 

The in-car satellite navigation market grew sharply as car manufacturers equipped 
more cars with built-in navigation systems. The E-call EU directive, which will require an 
emergency box to be built into all new EU cars from 2010 onwards, resulted in a further 
expansion of this market. Our Dead Reckoning technology is a key enabler for reliable 
navigation solutions in these markets. Based on market research data, we believe that 
this market will grow by 20% per annum over the coming years.  

With a major share in the market for fleet management systems, we expect to profit from 
this growth, as our GPS receiver products are the reference for tracking devices.

Mobile terminals

The mobile terminals market includes products such as mobile phones, cameras, media 
players, tracking devices for people and animals, navigation and security tracking devices 
for outdoor leisure activities. 

The rapid growth and development in wireless communications has paved way for the 
deployment of the GPS-enabled security and location-based services. The emergence of a 
large number of applications that use location information has helped boost the demand 
for GPS in the market. Enterprise applications also represent a significant opportunity. 
Operators are offering their customers a wide range of products that support mobile 
workers. Applications include field service and time-tracking applications that allow com-
panies to remotely manage employees. 

The strong global growth expected in the mobile phone market over the next few years 
and beyond will provide strong structural growth for the mobile GPS sector. More impor-
tantly, the penetration of GPS-enabled handsets is expected to rise rapidly. We estimate, 
based on data from external market research service providers, that the market for non-
CDMA GPS-enabled handsets will increase from 29 million units in 2006 to 201 million 
units in 2011, representing 18% of the total handset market. 

Our new u-blox 5 generation will help us to further participate in this emerging market. 

8www.u-blox.comSlide 8 Copyright © 2008: u-blox Holding AG
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Infrastructure

The infrastructure market includes devices for high precision time synchronization and 
high precision positioning. The synchronization of wireless networks, the measurement of 
time and precise location for surveying purposes and other such applications use preci-
sion timing technology in combination with specialized equipment. However, more and 
more applications in the infrastructure sector have arisen which use our standard accu-
racy specifications including consumer products such as golf rangefinder devices that help 
golf enthusiasts and professionals improve their game. 

Although this is the smallest of our market sectors, the demand for high precision solu-
tions is increasing rapidly with the emergence of new communication standards such as 
WiMAX and much smaller cell sizes with many more base stations (picocells, femtocells). 
Additionally, the expansion of wireless communication infrastructures requires time-
synchronized solutions in larger quantities.

Our in-depth technical expertise makes us the preferred supplier in this specialty market.

Outlook 2008

We are confident that our broad and widely diversified customer base and the increased 
awareness of our brand will support a stable stream of revenues in 2008. We expect to 
improve our operative margin for the following reasons:  
 l With the introduction of u-blox 5 we will control more production processes than  
  in the past, which we expect will result in increased profitability. 
 l We expect improved economies of scale with the expansion in the mobile terminal  
  and automotive market. 
 l We have investigated the possibilities offered by alternative technologies and 
  designs to reduce costs in our production processes. We plan to implement our 
  findings and expect to see the results in the course of 2008. 

To support our growth strategy, we plan to:
 l Continue our efforts in research and development and are working on our next  
  generation of GPS receiver platforms. 
 l Add more functionalities and product variants to our GPS receivers, mainly in the  
  form of new hardware concepts and improved software capabilities.
 l Investigate acquisition opportunities. 
 l Expand our relationship with key and leading customers.  
 l Hire additional staff to support our growth with highly talented specialists.  
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Technical Glossary

Acquisition performance: Performance of a GPS receiver in detecting (or ‘acquiring’) 
GPS satellites. Once acquired, the GPS receiver is able to receive and process the signals 
emitted and use this information to calculate a position. The speed and sensitivity at 
which a receiver is able to acquire satellites is refered to as its acquisition performance. 

Almanac: Set of satellite orbit parameters used to calculate GPS satellite positions and 
velocities. Almanac data contains information on the health status of satellites, as well as
parameters for computing satellite clock corrections.

Antenna: Hardware part of a GPS receiver that receives incoming L-Band signals from 
satellites (see also: L-Band). 

A-GPS (Assisted GPS) Services: Services under which a user’s receiver is provided with 
A-GPS aiding data to speed the GPS receiver’s position fix. The aiding data is transfered 
over mobile networks, enabling receivers to achieve a faster fix, even in situations where
GPS signals are too weak for a GPS receiver to detect.

CDMA (Code Division Multiple Access): Communication channel access principle that 
allows for multiple uses of a single frequency. This enables multiple radios to use the 
same frequency, each accessing a different code. This technology is used, for instance, in 
the US cellular network market. GPS systems use CDMA techniques for their own indi-
vidual cross-correlation calculations. 

Channel: Circuitry necessary to receive the signal from a single GPS satellite. 

Cold start: Start mode of a GPS receiver where no data on last position, approximate 
time or satellite constellation is available. A receiver performing a cold start will take the 
longest to calculate a position (see also: warm start and hot start). 

Correlator: The GPS receiver “software” or electronic means, implemented in some 
fashion (either analogue or digital) within a tracking channel, used to shift or compare 
the incoming signal with an internally generated signal. 

Dead Reckoning: Technology that enables a GPS receiver to calculate current position by 
measuring distance traveled and direction since the last known position.  

Ephemeris: Data that describes the expected orbit of a satellite in mathematical form.

Femtocell: Small cellular base station, typically designed for use in residential or small 
business environments. A femtocell incorporates the functionality of a typical base station 
but extends it to allow a simpler, self-contained deployment. Connected via a broadband 
connection (DSL or cable), a femtocell allows service providers to extend service coverage 
indoors, especially where access would otherwise be limited or unavailable.

Foundry: Factory that manufactures semiconductor dies.

GALILEO: European satellite navigation system that will enhance the integrity of satellite-
based navigation, once it becomes fully operational (see also: GPS and GNSS). 

GNSS (Global Navigation Satellite System): Generic term for satellite navigation sys-
tems, such as GPS and GALILEO, which provide autonomous geospatial positioning with 
global coverage. 

GPS (Global Positioning System): Global positioning system that consists of a constel-
lation of 24-32 satellites orbiting the Earth at a very high altitude. GPS satellites transmit 
signals that allow GPS receivers to determine their location with great accuracy. 

Hot start: Start mode of the GPS receiver when current position, clock offset, approxi-
mate GPS time and current Ephemeris data are all available. A GPS receiver can only 
perform a hot start if it has been switched off for less than two hours. 

L-Band: The group of radio frequencies spanning 390 - 1550 MHz. Includes the GPS car-
rier frequencies (1227.6 MHz and 1575.42 MHz). 

LNA (Low Noise Amplifier): Preamplifier placed between the antenna and the GPS 
receiver, designed to minimize the amount of thermal noise in the received signal.

Multipath: Interference of the GPS signal often caused by the bouncing or reflecting of 
signals from surrounding objects. 

ODM: Original Device Manufacturer.

OEM: Original Equipment Manufacturer.

Picocell: Small, low-cost wireless communication system analogous to a WiFi Access 
Point typically covering a small area such as an office, shopping mall or train station. 

PND (Personal Navigation Device): Portable electronic product, which combines posi-
tioning technology (such as GPS) and navigation functions.

RF (Radio Frequency): Any frequency within the electromagnetic spectrum normally as-
sociated with radio wave propagation.
 
SBAS (Satellite-Based Augmentation Systems): Augmentation systems that use 
geostationary satellites to provide ranging signals. The data improves the horizontal and 
vertical position and also provides information about the quality of the position. 

Sensitivity: Measure of the ability of a GPS receiver to detect and track the potentially 
weak signals emitted by GPS satellites. Weaker signals are typically found in dense urban 
landscapes and indoor environments where a receiver has no direct line-of-sight to satel-
lites. In these weaker signal conditions, a high sensitivity receiver is required.

TTFF (Time-To-First-Fix): The time a GPS receiver requires to calculate a position. This 
will vary with the operating state of the receiver, time elapsed since the last fix, the loca-
tion of the last fix and the receiver (see also: Hot start, Warm start and Cold start).

Warm start: Start mode of a GPS receiver when current position, clock offset and ap-
proximate GPS time are known, enabling the receiver to start up faster.
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Corporate Governance

The corporate governance framework of u-blox determines the management structure, 
organization and processes within the Group. 

Corporate governance at u-blox
u-blox is fully committed to good corporate governance. u-blox applies the Swiss Code 
of best practice for corporate governance, as far as applicable to u-blox. Additional 
corporate governance information can be found on the investor relations section of the 
u-blox website: www.u-blox.com.

Laws and regulations
u-blox is subject to the laws of Switzerland, in particular Swiss company and securities 
laws. In addition, u-blox is subject to the rules of the Swiss Stock Exchange (SWX Swiss 
Exchange), including the Directive on Information relating to Corporate Governance.

Group structure

u-blox and Group companies
The registered domicile of u-blox Holding AG and u-blox AG is: Zürcherstrasse 68,   
8800 Thalwil, Switzerland.  u-blox AG was founded in 1997.  u-blox Holding AG   
 was incorporated in September 2007 and listed on the SWX Swiss Exchange on  
October 26, 2007. 

Business operations are conducted through u-blox Group companies. u-blox, a holding 
company, directly or indirectly owns all worldwide companies belonging to the u-blox 
Group. The shares of these companies are not publicly traded. u-blox subsidiaries are 
listed in Note 2 to the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

Shareholders of u-blox 

Significant shareholders
As of December 31, 2007, u-blox had more than 4400 shareholders. According to the 
share register and disclosure by shareholders, the largest shareholders were: 
 l Partners Private Equity Limited Partnership, George Town, Cayman Island 

 (including Partners Group Private Equity Performance Holding Ltd.,  
  Guernsey, Channel Island)        21.06% 
 l DWS Investment GmbH, Germany* 5.76%
 l 3i Group Investments LP, London, United Kingdom 5.02%  
 l Zürcher Kantonalbank, Zürich, Switzerland             5.01%
 l iGlobe Partners Fund L.P., Santa Clara, USA                 4.96%

*u-blox was informed by Deutsche Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main, that they held 5.76% 
of the registered share capital through its subsidiary DWS Investment GmbH.  

As of December 31, 2007, to the best of our knowledge, no other shareholder held more 
than 3% of the registered share capital. 

Partners Private Equity Limited Partnership, Partners Group Private Equity, Performance 
Holding Limited, 3i Group Investments LP, Zürcher Kantonalbank, iGlobe Partners Fund 
L.P., Pensionskasse der Credit Suisse Group (Schweiz) Credit Suisse Anlagestiftung, Valor 
Equity Fund Ltd. and Eden Fund Ltd. are each individually subject to lock up agreements 
until 180 days from October 26, 2007. 

The members of the Board and Executive Committee, who are shareholders, are each 
individually subject to lock up agreements until 365 days from October 26, 2007. 

Cross shareholdings
u-blox has no cross shareholdings in any other company.

Capital structure

Share capital of u-blox 
The share capital of u-blox is CHF 5’619’033 fully paid in and divided into 6’243’370 reg-
istered shares of CHF 0.90 nominal value each. u-blox shares are listed on the SWX Swiss 
Exchange (Valor No. 3336167, ISIN CH0033361673, ticker symbol: UBXN).

Authorized share capital
The Board of Directors is authorized, at any time until October 16, 2009, to increase 
the share capital through the issuance of up to 1’248’674 fully paid-in registered shares 
with a nominal value of CHF 0.90 each in an aggregate amount not to exceed CHF 
1’123’806.60. An increase in partial amounts is permitted. The Board determines the is-
sue price, the date of issue of new shares and the type of payment.
The Board of Directors is authorized to exclude the subscription rights of shareholders 
and allocate such rights to third parties if the shares are to be used for the acquisition of 
enterprises through an exchange of shares, or for the financing of an acquisition of enter-
prises, parts of enterprises or participations, or for new investments of the Company. 

Executive Committee

ICT Quality Mgmt

Work Safety Legal

R&D Hardware R&D Software Manufacturing Marketing & Sales Finance

Sales Europe Sales Americas Sales Asia Pacific
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Conditional share capital
The share capital of the Company may be increased by a maximum aggregate amount of 
CHF 561’903.30 by issuing up to 624’337 fully paid-in registered shares with a nominal 
value of CHF 0.90 each through the exercise of options granted to directors and em-
ployees of the Company and its subsidiaries on the basis of participation plans. The issue 
price for the new shares and the conditions of the participation plan are defined by the 
Board of Directors. The subscription rights of the shareholders are excluded for this capi-
tal increase. 

There are no preferential voting shares. All shares have equal voting rights. No participa-
tion certificates, nonvoting equity securities (Genussscheine) or profit-sharing certificates 
have been issued.

Changes in share capital

u-blox has changed its share capital since the date of incorporation and prior to the list-
ing as follows: The share capital was increased from CHF 4’226’238 to CHF 4’494’033, 
divided into 499’337 registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 9 each, as a result 
of the exercise of 29’755 outstanding stock options. The shares were sourced from the 
conditional capital available at the date of incorporation of the Company. The conditional 
capital of CHF 561’903.30 has been approved after the exercise of the stock options and 
will therefore remain unchanged.

The shares were split with a split ratio 1:10 into CHF 4’494’033, divided into 4’993’370  
registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.90 each. The share capital was increased 
by CHF 1’125’000 by issuing 1’250’000 new fully paid-in registered shares with a nomi-
nal value of CHF 0.90 each. A table with information on changes in the Company’s and 
u-blox AG’s share capital structure can be found in Note 17 to the financial statements.

Bonus certificates, options and convertibles 
u-blox has not issued bonus certificates, convertible or exchangeable bonds, warrants, 
options or other securities granting rights to u-blox shares.  

Shareholder rights

Each registered share entitles the holder to one vote at general meetings. Shareholders 
representing at least 10% of the share capital may request that an extraordinary general 
meeting of shareholders be convened. Shareholders representing shares with an aggre-
gate nominal value of at least CHF 1’000’000 may request that an item be included in 
the agenda of a general meeting. Such requests must be made in writing at least 45 days 
before the date of the general meeting, specify the item and contain the proposal on 
which the shareholder requests a vote. Shareholders have the right to receive dividends, 
appoint a proxy and other rights as are granted under the Swiss Code of Obligations.

Registration as shareholder
No restrictions apply to the registration as shareholder. Only shareholders registered in the 
u-blox share register may exercise their voting rights.

No restriction on transfer of shares
No restrictions apply to the transfer of shares.
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Name  Member since Term expires Age  Position

Edzard Reuter  2007 2008  79  Chairman

Hans-Ulrich Müller  2007 2008  61  Vice-Chairman

Hansjörg Sage  2007 2008  38  Member

Gerhard Tröster  2007 2009  54  Member 

Soo Boon Quek  2007 2009  57  Member

Thomas Seiler  2007 2010  51  Member and CEO

Jean-Pierre Wyss  2007 2010  38  Member and CFO 

Jürg Stahl  2007 2010  51  Member

Board of Directors

Composition of the Board of Directors as of December 31, 2007:

Election and term of office
All Directors are elected individually. Directors are elected to terms of office of generally 
three years or less by the shareholders at Annual General Meetings. The terms of office 
among Directors are to be coordinated so that approximately one-third of all Directors are 
subject each year to re-election or election. 

Role and functioning of the Board
The Board holds the ultimate decision-making authority for u-blox in all matters, except 
for those decisions reserved by law for shareholders. 

The Chairman sets the agendas of Board meetings. Any Director may request a Board 
meeting or the inclusion of an item on the agenda. Decisions are made by the Board as a 
whole, with the support of the Compensation and Nomination Committee and the Audit 
Committee.

The primary functions of the Board include:
	 l Providing the strategic direction of the Group;
	 l Determining the organizational structure and governance rules of the Group;
	 l Supervising the business operations overall;
	 l Approving acquisitions or divestments;
	 l Structuring the accounting system, financial controls and financial planning;
	 l Reviewing and approving the annual financial statements and results;
	 l Appointing and dismissing members of the Executive Committee;
	 l Preparing matters to be presented at General Meetings, including u-blox’s financial  
  statements and the consolidated financial statements for the Group;
	 l Evaluating the performance of the Chief Executive Officer and the performance of  
  the members of the Executive Committee

The details are defined in the Rules of Procedure of the Board of Directors and available 
on the investor relations section of the u-blox website.

The Board has convened 5 times in 2007. The committees have each convened once. 
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Edzard Reuter
German

Function at u-blox: 
Edzard Reuter was elected Chairman of 
the Board of Directors of u-blox since 
incorporation of the Company in 2007. 
Since 2001 he serves as Chairman of 
u-blox AG. He chairs the nomination and 
compensation committee.
He is a Non-Executive Director. 

Professional background:
Mr. Reuter studied mathematics, physics 
and law in Berlin and Göttingen and 
holds a law degree from Freie Universität 
Berlin.

He became a member of the executive 
board of Daimler-Benz in 1976 where he 
headed the planning and organization 
division. He led the finance division in 
1980. From 1987 until his retirement 
in 1995 he acted as Chairman of the 
executive board of Daimler-Benz AG. 

Other positions or consultancy 
agreements:
Edzard Reuter is member of the 
supervisory board of several cultural and 
scientific institutions in Germany.

Hans-Ulrich Müller 
Swiss

Function at u-blox: 
Hans-Ulrich Müller has been appointed 
Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors 
of u-blox since incorporation of the 
Company in 2007. From 1998 to 2006 
he acted as member of the board of 
directors of u-blox AG. He was appointed 
Vice-Chairman of the board of directors 
of u-blox AG in 2006. He is a member 
of the nomination and compensation 
committee and of the audit committee. 
He is a Non-Executive Director.

Professional background:
Hans-Ulrich Müller holds a degree in 
electronic engineering from the Institute 
of Technology in Burgdorf (CH) and an 
MBA diploma from the European Univer-
sity in Cham, Switzerland.

He started his career at ESEC SA, Swit-
zerland in 1977 as Electronics Manager. 
He held several functions within ESEC SA 
and was appointed member of the board 
of ESEC Holding SA and COO from 1992 
to 1997. Thereafter, he served as Chair-
man of the board at Kistler Holding SA, 
Switzerland from 1998 to 2001. 
Hans-Ulrich Müller became Partner at 
Partners Group, Switzerland and General 
Partner of Partners Group Private Equity 
L.P. in 1999. 

Other positions or consultancy 
agreements:
Hans-Ulrich Müller is member of the 
board of Esmertec AG, Switzerland and 
Spol AG, Switzerland.

Dr. Hansjörg Sage
German

Function at u-blox:
Dr. Hansjörg Sage has served as a mem-
ber of the Board of Directors of u-blox 
since the incorporation of the Company 
in 2007. In 2006 he was appointed 
member of the board of u-blox AG.  
He is a member of the nomination and 
compensation committee. 
He is a Non-Executive Director.

Professional background:
Dr. Hansjörg Sage holds a degree in 
electrical engineering from Karlsruhe 
University, a Ph.D. in robotics and 
automatic control from Strasbourg 
University and a MBA diploma from 
INSEAD. 

He has been a Strategy Consultant 
with Boston Consulting Group from 
1997 to 2001. From 2001 to 2004 he 
was Associate with Lehman Brothers. 
Since 2004 he is a Director with 3i 
Deutschland. 

Other positions or consultancy 
agreements:
Dr. Hansjörg Sage is board member 
of Digital Imaging Systems, Nabern, 
Germany and HTE AG,  Heidelberg, 
Germany.

Prof. Gerhard Tröster
German

Function at u-blox:
Prof. Gerhard Tröster has served as a 
member of the Board of Directors of 
u-blox since the incorporation of the 
Company in 2007. He has served as 
Chairman of the board of directors and as 
Executive Officer of u-blox AG between 
1997 and 2001 and as Vice-Chairman of 
the board between 2001 and 2003. He  
is a member of the board of u-blox AG. 
He is a Non-Executive Director.

Professional background: 
Professor Gerhard Tröster holds a Diploma 
degree from the Technical University of 
Karlsruhe and a PhD degree from the 
Technical University of Darmstadt, both in 
electrical engineering. 

He led the Advanced Integrated Circuit 
Design’ group at Telefunken Electronic, 
Germany from 1984 to 1993. Since 1993 
he is Professor for electronics at the Swiss 
Federal Institute of Technology (ETH) and 
Head of the Electronics Laboratory. 
In 1997 he co-founded u-blox AG.
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Soo Boon Quek
Singaporean 

Function at u-blox:
Soo Boon Quek has served as a member 
of the Board of Directors of u-blox 
since the incorporation of the Company 
in 2007. In 2006 she was appointed 
member of the board of u-blox AG.  
She is a Non-Executive Director.

Professional background:
Soo Boon Quek holds a B.Sc. degree 
in mathematics from King’s College, 
University of London.

She was Senior Vice President / Deputy 
General Manager of Vertex Management 
Inc. from 1987 to 1999. She founded 
iGlobe Partners, Singapore in 1999 and 
co-founded iGlobe Advisors Pte Ltd. in 
2007. She is Managing Partner of iGlobe 
Partners.

Other positions or consultancy 
agreements:
Soo Boon Quek is a board member of 
the following companies located in the 
Asia Pacific region: Aicent Inc, Excelics 
Semiconductor Inc, Telenav Inc, mTone 
Wiresless Inc, Forte Media (Nanjing) Co. 
Ltd. and Wise Giant Ltd.

Thomas Seiler
Swiss 

Function at u-blox:
Thomas Seiler has served as a member of 
the Board of Directors of u-blox and as 
CEO since the incorporation of the Com-
pany in 2007. In 2006 he was appointed 
member of the board of u-blox AG. He 
serves as CEO and Head of Marketing 
and Sales of u-blox AG since 2002. 

Professional background:
Thomas Seiler holds a degree in mechani-
cal engineering from the Swiss Federal 
Institute of Technology (ETH) and a MBA 
diploma from INSEAD. 

In 1987 he was appointed member of 
the executive committee of Melcher 
Holding AG, Switzerland and CEO from 
1991 to 1998. Thereafter, he served as 
CEO of Kistler Holding AG, Switzerland 
from 1999 to 2001. 

Other positions or consultancy agree-
ments:
Thomas Seiler is a member of the board 
of Kirchheim Holding AG, Germany. 

Jean-Pierre Wyss
Swiss

Function at u-blox:
Jean-Pierre Wyss has served as a member 
of the Board of Directors of u-blox and as 
CFO of u-blox since the incorporation of 
the Company in 2007. He has served as 
a member of the board of directors, CFO 
and Head of Production and Logistics of 
u-blox AG since 1997. 

Professional background:
He holds a degree in electrical engineer-
ing from the Swiss Federal Institute of 
Technology (ETH) and a Finance for 
Executives diploma from INSEAD in  
Singapore.

From 1995 to 1997 he was a research 
assistant and project manager at ETH.  
In 1997, he co-founded u-blox AG.

Jürg Stahl 
Swiss

Function at u-blox:
Jürg Stahl has served as a member of the 
Board of Directors of u-blox since the 
incorporation of the Company in 2007. 
He was appointed member of the board 
of u-blox AG in 2007. He chairs the  
audit committee. He is a Non-Executive  
Director.

Professional background:
Jürg Stahl holds a degree in electronics 
mechanics.

In 1989 he co-founded Micronas Semi-
conductor AG, Zurich. He served as CEO 
of Micronas until its listing at the SWX 
Swiss Exchange in 1997 and as Chair-
man of the board from 1997 to 1998. 
He then served as CEO and consultant 
for a number of start up companies in 
Germany.  

Since 2007, Jürg Stahl is CEO of Ancosys 
GmbH, Kirchentellinsfurt, Germany.
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Role and functioning of the Board Committees

Each committee member and its chairman is elected by the Board. The Board committees 
meet regularly to consider the items on the agenda determined by the chair. The commit-
tees inform the Board members on issues discussed at meetings. The committees gener-
ally meet prior to the Board meeting.

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee is composed of two to three independent Directors. The Chief  
Financial Officer and representative of the external auditors are, at the request of the 
chair, invited to meetings of the Audit Committee. It is currently composed of Jürg Stahl 
(chair) and Hans-Ulrich Müller.

The Audit Committee’s main duties include the assessment of:
 l The completeness, integrity and transparency of financial statements, their compli- 
  ance with applicable accounting principles and proper reporting to the public;
 l The functionality and effectiveness of external and internal control systems includ- 
  ing risk management and compliance, unless such duties, authority and responsi- 
  bilities are delegated to any other body of the company; 
 l The quality of audit services rendered by the external and internal auditors. 

Compensation and Nomination Committee
The Compensation and Nomination Committee is composed of three independent Direc-
tors. It is currently composed of Edzard Reuter (chair), Hans-Ulrich Müller and Hansjörg 
Sage. The committee supports the Board of Directors in the performance of its duties as 
follows:
 l It prepares the personnel-related decisions to be adopted by the Board of Directors,  
  such as personnel planning, appointment and removal of, as well as the structure  
  of, remuneration/compensation payable to members of the Executive Committee;
 l It submits proposals regarding the amount of fixed and variable remuneration  
  as well as  compensation to which members of the Executive Committee are entitled;
 l It drafts the employee stock ownership program;
 l It decides on the allotment of options and shares within the scope of the employee  
  stock ownership program.

Information and control systems of the Board vis-à-vis management

The Board ensures that it receives sufficient information from the Executive Committee 
to perform its supervisory duty. The Board obtains the information required to perform its 
duties as follows:
 l The CEO and the CFO are members of the Board of u-blox. All Board members are  
  members of the board of u-blox AG. The Board is therefore fully informed on all  
  current developments.
 l The CEO informs all Directors on a monthly basis about relevant developments.
 l The minutes of Committee meetings are made available to the Directors.
 l Informal teleconferences are held as required between Directors and the CEO.
 l All members of the Executive Committee are present at each Board meeting and  
  report on areas of business within their responsibility.



44 45

Executive Committee

Thomas Seiler
Swiss 

Function at u-blox:
Thomas Seiler has served as a member of 
the Board of Directors of u-blox and as 
CEO since the incorporation of the Com-
pany in 2007. In 2006 he was appointed 
member of the board of u-blox AG. He 
serves as CEO and Head of Marketing 
and Sales of u-blox AG since 2002. 

Professional background:
Thomas Seiler holds a degree in mechani-
cal engineering from the Swiss Federal 
Institute of Technology (ETH) and a MBA 
diploma from INSEAD. 

In 1987 he was appointed member of 
the executive committee of Melcher 
Holding AG, Switzerland and CEO from 
1991 to 1998. Thereafter, he served as 
CEO of Kistler Holding AG, Switzerland 
from 1999 to 2001. 

Other positions or consultancy agree-
ments:
Thomas Seiler is a member of the board 
of Kirchheim Holding AG, Germany. 

Jean-Pierre Wyss
Swiss

Function at u-blox:
Jean-Pierre Wyss has served as a member 
of the Board of Directors of u-blox and as 
CFO of u-blox since the incorporation of 
the Company in 2007. He has served as 
a member of the board of directors, CFO 
and Head of Production and Logistics of 
u-blox AG since 1997. 

Professional background:
He holds a degree in electrical engineer-
ing from the Swiss Federal Institute of 
Technology (ETH) and a Finance for 
Executives diploma from INSEAD in  
Singapore.

From 1995 to 1997 he was a research 
assistant and project manager at ETH.  
In 1997, he co-founded u-blox AG.

Daniel Ammann
Swiss

Function at u-blox:
Daniel Ammann has served as Executive 
Vice President (R&D Software) of u-blox 
since its incorporation. He has been a 
member of the board of u-blox AG from 
1997 to 2003 and acts as Executive Vice 
President R&D Software since 1997. 

Professional background:
He holds a degree in electrical engineer-
ing from the Swiss Federal Institute of 
Technology (ETH).

From 1995 to 1997 he was a research 
assistant and project manager at ETH.
In 1997, he co-founded u-blox AG.

Andreas Thiel
German

Function at u-blox:
Andreas Thiel has served as Executive 
Vice President (R&D Hardware) of u-blox 
since its incorporation and as Executive 
Vice President R&D Hardware of u-blox 
AG since 1997.

Professional background:
He holds a degree in electrical 
engineering from Aachen University 
(RWTH) in Germany.  

From 1994 to 1997 he was a research
assistant and project manager at the Swiss 
Federal Institute of Technology (ETH).  
In 1997, he co-founded u-blox AG.
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Management of the Group

The four members of the Executive Committee are: 

Name  Age Position

Thomas Seiler   51 CEO, Head of Marketing and Sales

Jean-Pierre Wyss   38 CFO, Head of Production / Logistics

Andreas Thiel  40 Executive Vice President (R&D Hardware) 

Daniel Ammann  38 Executive Vice President (R&D Software)

The Board has delegated to the Executive Committee the coordination of the Group’s 
day-to-day business operations. The Executive Committee is headed by the Chief 
Executive Officer. 

The primary functions of the Executive Committee include:
 l Implementing the strategies and policies adopted by the Board;
 l Drawing up corporate policies, strategies and strategic plans for approval by the  
  Board;
 l Submitting to the Board and its committees any proposed changes in management  
  positions of material significance, capital investments, financial measures,   
  acquisitions or divestitures of companies, participations and businesses, contracts  
  of material significance and budgets;
 l Implementing matters that have been approved by the Board;
 l Preparing and submitting annual reports to the Board or its committees;
 l Manage employees;
 l Implementing modifications to the Group’s organization;
 l Promoting an active internal and external communications policy;
 l Promulgating guidelines; 
 l Dealing with any other matters as are delegated by the Board to the Executive  
  Committee.

Management contracts
u-blox does not have management contracts with third parties. The Executive Committee 
members are employed by u-blox AG and provide management services for the 
Company.

                              

(in CHF 000s)  Compensation Share based Pension & social Total
      compensation insurance funds compensation

Edzard Reuter  21 63 14 98

Hans-Ulrich Müller  16  0 0 16

Hansjörg Sage  16  0 0 16

Gerhard Tröster   16  48 19 83

Soo Boon Quek   16  0 0 16

Jürg Stahl   11  0 0 11

For details see Note 6 to the financial statements of u-blox Holding AG.

Options
The Board members were granted options as indicated in the table below. All options 
were exercised under the stock option plan prior to the listing.
 

   Number of options (before split)

Edzard Reuter          200

Hans-Ulrich Müller              0

Hansjörg Sage              0

Gerhard Tröster           150

Soo Boon Quek               0

Jürg Stahl               0

For details see Note 6 to the financial statements of u-blox Holding AG.

Compensation, shareholdings and loans

Non-executive members of the Board of Directors

Effective as of October 1, 2007, the Chairman of the Board is paid an annual compensa-
tion of CHF 40’000. Other members of the Board serving as Chairman of a committee 
are paid a compensation of CHF 30’000 per year. Each other member of the Board is paid 
an annual compensation of CHF 20’000. The share based compensation results from the 
exercise of options shown in the Options table below.
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Executive Committee (including Executive members of the Board of Directors) 

In 2007 the employment agreements with the Executive Committee members provide for 
annual salaries in the amounts indicated in the table below. The employment agreements 
provide that the members of the Executive Committee earn a base salary and a bonus 
based on a combination of EBIT ratios and the increase of the turnover of the Group. 
The bonus is limited to 100%, respectively 150% for Thomas Seiler, of the base salary. 
The share based compensation results from the exercise of options shown in the Options 
table below.

(in CHF 000s)  Salary/Bonus and Share based Pension & social  Total
    other compensation compensation insurance funds  compensation

Thomas Seiler  453 0     75 528

Jean-Pierre Wyss   281 504 239  1’024

Andreas Thiel  281 504 239  1’024

Daniel Ammann   281 504 238  1’023

For details see Note 6 to the financial statements of u-blox Holding AG.

Options
The Executive Committee members were granted options as indicated in the table below. 
All options were exercised under the stock option plan prior to the listing.

   Number of options (before split)

Thomas Seiler                 0

Jean-Pierre Wyss            1’590

Andreas Thiel            1’590

Daniel Ammann            1’590
                                                                                                                                                      

For details see Note 6 to the financial statements of u-blox Holding AG.                                                                            

Stock option plan 
The stock option plan of the Company was based on the stock option plan of u-blox 
AG. Rights accrued under the stock option plan of u-blox AG were maintained under the 
stock option plan of the Company.

The stock option plan on the basis of which the options were distributed to the Board 
and the Executive Committee in 2007 expired upon listing. The stock option plan 
provided for the grant of a minimum number of options to the founding and Executive 
Committee members consisting of Jean-Pierre Wyss, Andreas Thiel and Daniel Ammann, 
as compensation for the reduction of their shareholding due to past financing rounds of 
u-blox AG. The number of options corresponded to a pre-defined percentage of the total 
amount of registered shares.  

The plan provided for the grant of a number of options to certain non-executive Board 
members and employees based on their functional rank within the company.
A new stock option plan will be decided upon beginning 2008.

Ownership of u-blox shares and options

The members of the Executive Committee and the Directors (including holdings of 
“persons closely linked”1) do not own options as of December 31, 2007. The total 
number of u-blox shares owned by members of the Executive Committee and the 
Directors as of December 31, 2007 (including holdings of “persons closely linked”1)   
is shown in the table below. 

Non-executive members of the Board

     Number of shares

Edzard Reuter   28’180

Hans-Ulrich Müller   16’000

Hansjörg Sage            0

Gerhard Tröster   35’760

Soo Boon Quek            0

Jürg Stahl            0

Executive Committee (including executive members of the Board) 

     Number of shares

Thomas Seiler   96’118

Jean-Pierre Wyss    75’110

Andreas Thiel   73’710

Daniel Ammann   73’710

1“Persons closely linked” are (i) their spouse, (ii) their children below age 18, (iii) any legal entities that they own or 
otherwise control, or (iv) any legal or natural person who is acting as their fiduciary.
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Share allotment in the year under review 

No shares were allotted to the members of the Board or the Executive Committee in 2007. 

Additional fees and remunerations and loans 

No additional fees or remuneration was paid to the members of the Board or the 
Executive Committee.

No loans were granted by the Group to the members of the Board or the Executive 
Committee or were outstanding as of December 31, 2007.

Auditors

Duration of the mandate and term of office of the lead auditor 
In 2007, KPMG AG, Root was appointed as Group Auditors of u-blox. Mr. Markus Forrer, 
Partner, is acting as the lead auditor for the financial year 2007. Before the listing of the 
Company, the consolidated financials have been audited by KPMG.

Auditing fees
Total auditing fees charged by KPMG for mandatory audits of the Company for the 
financial year 2007 amount to CHF 119’300 (excl. VAT) and for IPO and other audit-
related work to CHF 195’530 (excl. VAT).

Additional fees
Additional fees charged by KPMG for other services such as tax advice, etc. during the 
financial year 2007 amount to CHF 325’420 (excl. VAT).

Supervisory and control instruments

The Board of Directors monitors the work and audit results of the External Auditors 
through the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee also reviews the level of the 
external audit fees. Since the Audit Committee was constituted after incorporation of the 
Company in late September 2007, no meetings with the External Auditors took place in 
2007. 

  

Information policy

In addition to the annual report, u-blox will publish condensed interim financial informa-
tion bi-annually. u-blox provides stock-price-sensitive information in accordance with the 
ad hoc publicity requirements of the Listing Rules of the SWX Swiss Exchange. All infor-
mation is distributed through third-party electronic and print media resources. Addition-
ally, all interested parties have the possibility to directly receive from u-blox, via an e-mail 
distribution list, free and timely notification of publicly released information. All of this 
information as well as the registration form for the e-mail distribution service, general 
corporate information and Company publications can be found on the investors relations 
section of the company website.

Contact information

u-blox Holding AG
Zürcherstrasse 68
8800 Thalwil, Switzerland
Phone: +41 44 722 74 44
www.u-blox.com
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

(in CHF 000s) Notes 2007 2006

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 85'922 16'011
Trade accounts receivable 7 7'772 6'134
Other receivables 8 1'337 1'144
Inventory 9 5'171 4'854
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 1'070 757

   Total current assets 101'272 28'900

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 2'511 1'029
Intangible assets 11 3'129 2'637
Financial assets 247 161
Deferred tax assets 24 6'034 4'508

   Total non-current assets 11'921 8'335

Total assets 113'193 37'235

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Trade accounts payable 12 3'620 2'414
Other payables 13 3'202 286
Accrued expenses 14 6'809 3'829
Restructured financial liability 16 579 1'048

   Total current liabilities 14'210 7'577

Non-current liabilities
Pension liabilities 15 898 651
Restructured financial liability 16 0 61
Deferred tax liabilities 24 483 504

   Total non-current liabilities 1'381 1'216

Total liabilities 15'591 8'793

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 17 5'619 4'226
Share premium 101'860 39'504
Cumulative translation differences 156 249
Accumulated losses -10'033 -15'537

Total equity 18 97'602 28'442

Total liabilities and equity 113'193 37'235

At December 31, 

These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT  

(in CHF 000s) Notes 2007  2006

Sales 4 78'360 54'380

Cost of sales -49'810 -31'892

Gross profit 28'550 22'488

Distribution and marketing expenses -10'821 -7'776
Research and development expenses 21 -9'653 -5'803
General and administrative expenses -3'410 -2'113
Other income 855 341

Profit from operations (EBIT) 5'521 7'137

Financial income 23 665 256
Finance costs 23 -1'932 -437

Profit before income taxes (EBT) 4'254 6'956

Income taxes 24 1'190 404

Net profit 5'444 7'360

Earnings per share (in CHF) 19 1.09 1.60
Diluted earnings per share (in CHF) 19 1.05 1.55

For the year ended December 31,

These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT  

(in CHF 000s) Notes 2007  2006
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF RECOGNIZED INCOME AND EXPENSE 

(in CHF 000s) Notes 2007 2006

-93 -13
Defined benefit plan actuarial gains / (losses) 15 74 -331

24 -14 57

Net (loss) recognized directly in equity -33 -287

Net profit 5'444 7'360

Total recognized income and expense 5'411 7'073

For the year ended December 31,

Foreign currency translation differences for foreign
operations

Income tax on income and expense recognized directly in
equity

These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

(in CHF 000s) Notes 2007  2006

Net Profit 5'444 7'360

Adjustments for:
Depreciation 10 1'141 493
Amortization of intangible assets 11 2'205 1'427
Share-based payment transactions 20 3'166 821
Increase of pension accrual 15 321 28
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (net) on

intercompany transactions -106 232
Increase of bad debt reserve 7 69 23
Increase of inventory reserve 9 25 18
Financial income 23 -665 -256
Finance costs 23 1'932 37

Income taxes 24 -1'190 -404
Increase in trade and other receivables,

prepaid expenses and accrued income -2'318 -2'772
(Increase)/decrease in inventories -342 -1'350
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables and

accrued expenses 6'981 3'118
Income taxes paid - -

Net cash provided by operating activities 16'663 8'775

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 10 -2'632 -983
Acquisition of intangible assets 11 -2'697 -2'732
Proceeds from sale of short-term investments 6 - 3'000
Acquisition of financial assets -95 -45
Interest received 450 202

Net cash used in investing activities -4'974 -558

Proceeds from issue of share capital, net of
transaction costs 17/18 59'412 77

Repayment of restructured financial liability 16 -533 -889
Interest paid -9 -2

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 58'870 -814

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 70'559 7'403
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 16'011 8'697
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and

cash equivalents -648 -89

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 5 85'922 16'011

For the year ended December 31,

These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



58 59

 

Company 

  Share
  capital
(million)

Ownership
interest

31.12.07

Ownership  
interest 

 31.12.06 

Function

u-blox AG, CH-Thalwil CHF 4.23 100 % E
u-blox Europe Ltd., GB-Charing GBP 0.06 100 % 100 % S
u-blox Asia Pacific Ltd., HK-Hong-Kong USD 0.10 100 % 100 % M
u-blox America Inc., USA-Herndon USD 0.10 100 % 100 % S
u-blox Singapore Pte. Ltd., SG-Singapore SGD 0.10 100 % 100 % M

E = Engineering, Logistics, Marketing, Sales and Support
S = Sales and Support
M = Marketing

u-blox Holding AG was incorporated by a contribution in kind of all shares of u-blox AG.
u-blox AG was the ultimate parent company of the Group in 2006.
u-blox Singapore Pte. Ltd. was established in 2006.
u-blox Europe Ltd. was inactive during the year 2007.

Subsidiaries are all entities that u-blox has the ability to control. Control refers to the power of the Group
to govern, directly or indirectly, the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits
from its activities. Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for based on the purchase
method, whereby the financial statements of the acquiree are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date when control commences until the date when control ceases. All subsidiaries
stated above, except of u-blox AG, were founded by the Group. The shares of u-blox AG were transferred
into u-blox Holding AG by exchange of shares with the existing shareholders in September 2007.

Intra-group transactions and balances, and any unrealized gains arising from such transactions, are
eliminated upon consolidation.

 

Foreign currency translation 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at
transaction date exchange rates. Any difference in exchange rates between the original transaction date
and the subsequent settlement date is recorded in the income statement as a gain or loss.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are measured in the functional currency
at year-end rates and related unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the income statement. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are measured the functional currency at
the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction.

The Group uses the Swiss Franc (CHF) as its reporting currency. For reporting purposes the financial
statements of foreign operations denominated in currencies other than CHF are translated as follows:

Assets and liabilities year-end rates

Share capital and equity year-end rates

Income statement average rates

Cash flow statement average rates

The resulting translation differences (other than those relating to the cash flow statement) are recorded in
equity. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the related accumulated translation
difference included in equity is transferred to profit or loss.

Translation differences on long-term loans to foreign operations that in substance form part of the net
investment in the foreign operation are also classified as equity until disposal of the net investment or
repayment of the loan. Upon disposal of the net investment or repayment of the loan, all related
cumulative translation differences are recognized in the income statement.

 

were prepared in accordance with uniform corporate accounting policies and comprise the twelve months
ended December 31, 2006 and 2007:
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stated above, except of u-blox AG, were founded by the Group. The shares of u-blox AG were transferred
into u-blox Holding AG by exchange of shares with the existing shareholders in September 2007.

Intra-group transactions and balances, and any unrealized gains arising from such transactions, are
eliminated upon consolidation.

 

Foreign currency translation 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at
transaction date exchange rates. Any difference in exchange rates between the original transaction date
and the subsequent settlement date is recorded in the income statement as a gain or loss.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are measured in the functional currency
at year-end rates and related unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the income statement. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are measured the functional currency at
the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction.

The Group uses the Swiss Franc (CHF) as its reporting currency. For reporting purposes the financial
statements of foreign operations denominated in currencies other than CHF are translated as follows:
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Share capital and equity year-end rates

Income statement average rates

Cash flow statement average rates

The resulting translation differences (other than those relating to the cash flow statement) are recorded in
equity. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the related accumulated translation
difference included in equity is transferred to profit or loss.

Translation differences on long-term loans to foreign operations that in substance form part of the net
investment in the foreign operation are also classified as equity until disposal of the net investment or
repayment of the loan. Upon disposal of the net investment or repayment of the loan, all related
cumulative translation differences are recognized in the income statement.

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION AND BASIS OF PREPARATION  

u-blox Group (‘u-blox’ or the ‘Group’) consists of u-blox Holding AG (2006: u-blox AG) (‘the Company’),
incorporated on September 21, 2007 in Thalwil, Switzerland, and its consolidated subsidiaries. u-blox
Holding AG was incorporated by a contribution in kind of all shares of u-blox AG in exchange for shares of
the new holding company.

With the initial public offering on October 25, 2007, u-blox opened itself to public investors. The shares of
u-blox Holding AG are listed on the main segment of SWX Swiss Exchange.

u-blox's core activities comprise the development, manufacture and marketing of the products and services
of GPS Positioning Products. u-blox offers a range of GPS Positioning Products, including GPS Receiver
Chipsets, GPS Receiver Modules, GPS Receiver Boards, GPS Smart Antennas and GPS Antennas which are
in use world-wide for navigation, automatic vehicle location, security, traffic control, location based
services, timing and surveying. Hardware production is fully outsourced to external contractors.

The Board of Directors authorized these consolidated financial statements for issuance on March 17, 2008.

Statement of compliance and basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

They have been prepared using the historical cost convention except for items requiring fair value
accounting.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in CHF, rounded to the nearest thousand. Group
subsidiaries prepare their individual financial statements using their functional currency, which was
identified to be the respective local currency.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, income and expenses as well as disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Although these
judgments, estimates and assumptions are based on management's best knowledge of current events and
actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The estimated and underlying
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis, and revised if necessary (see Note 3).

 

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
consolidated financial statements and have been applied consistently by the Group entities.

All standards effective as of December 31, 2007 have been applied retrospectively or in accordance with
the specific transition rule.

Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of u-blox Holding AG, which
provides holding functions, and the financial statements of the following controlled companies, which
were prepared in accordance with uniform corporate accounting policies and comprise the twelve months
ended December 31, 2006 and 2007:
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The following rates were used to translate the financial statements of the Group's entities into CHF for
consolidation purposes:

Average 
rate

Closing 
rate

Average 
rate

Closing 
rate

EUR 1.64898 1.65871 1.58010 1.60965
USD 1.21702 1.12666 1.27251 1.21975
GBP 2.42674 2.24977 2.34515 2.38901
HKD 0.14993 0.14441 0.16377 0.15698
SGD 0.80463 0.77932 0.81052 0.79045
CNY 0.16059 0.15446

December 31, 2006December 31, 2007

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at nominal value. They include cash on hand, bank accounts and
fixed-term deposits or call deposits with original terms of less than 3 months.

 

Short-term investments 

Short-term investments are primarily fixed-term deposits with maturities of between 90 and 180 days at the
time of investment and are stated at nominal value, which approximates their fair value.

 

Accounts receivable 

Accounts receivable are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost, less
allowances for doubtful receivables.

An allowance for doubtful receivables is recorded if there is an objective indication that the amounts due in
respect of such accounts cannot be recovered in full. The allowance is measured as the difference between
the book value of the receivable and expected future cash flows.

 

Inventory 

Inventory consists principally of purchased raw materials and finished products which are stated at the
lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price less the estimated
cost of completion and selling expenses.

Raw materials consist of components which are assembled by external contractors into finished products.
The cost of all inventory is based on the weighted average cost principle and includes costs incurred in
acquiring the inventory and bringing it to its present location and condition.

Provisions are made for slow-moving items. Obsolete items are written off.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations (IFRS 5) 

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of the carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. In 2007 and 2006, the Group held no non-current assets classified as held-for-
sale.
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sale.
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Capitalized development costs 

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved
products and processes. Development expenditures are capitalized only if development costs can be
measured reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits
are probable, and the Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use
or sell the asset. The expenditures capitalized includes the cost of materials as well as direct labor and
overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use.

The Group expenses for research and development costs incurred in the preliminary project stage. To the
extent research and development costs include the development of embedded software, the Group
believes that software development is an integral part of the semiconductor design. Therefore, such costs
are expensed as incurred until technological feasibility has been established. Thereafter, any additional
costs are capitalized.

Capitalized development costs are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortization starts if the asset (or a part of it) is in use or when the product is released
to customers. These costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated life of the product
(usually 2 years).

Expenditures for research activities undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical
knowledge and understanding, are expensed in profit or loss when incurred.

 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-current assets are reviewed at each annual balance sheet date or
earlier if a significant event has occurred to determine whether there is any indication of impairment of
value. If any such indication exists, an impairment review is performed. Goodwill and capitalized
development costs not yet available for use are tested for impairment every year.

An impairment loss is recognized in the income statement whenever the carrying amount of an asset or
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs to sell and the asset's or group of assets' value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value based on the risks specific to the asset(s).

An impairment loss is reversed if there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist and
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. However, an
impairment of goodwill is not reversed.

 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are recognized initially at fair value less attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortized cost with any
difference between cost and redemption value recognized in the income statement over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months subsequent to the balance
sheet date.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Provisions 

A provision is recognized when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.

 

 

 

Financial lease and operating lease 

Lease agreements in which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases. During the years ended December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2007, the
Group did not enter into any finance lease agreements.

Other leases represent operating leases for which the leased assets are not recognized on the Group’s
balance sheet. Operating lease payments are recognized in the income statement on a straight line basis
over the term of the lease.

Pension liabilities 

The Group maintains pension plans for employees located in Switzerland, the United States of America
(USA), China and Singapore. These plans comply with the respective legislation in each country and are
financially independent of the Group. The pension funds are generally financed by employer and employee
contributions. The plans in the USA, China and Singapore qualify as defined contribution plans and
employer contributions paid or due are recognized in the income statement as incurred.

The plan in Switzerland is contracted with an insurance company and qualifies as defined benefit plan. The
expense and the defined benefit obligation (DBO) are determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method.
The last valuation of the defined benefit obligation was carried out as per December 31, 2007.

Current service costs are recorded in the income statement in the period in which they are occurred. Past-
service costs are recognized immediately in the income statement unless the changes to the pension plan
are conditional on the employees remaining in service for a specified period of time. In this case, the past-
service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining service period.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in actuarial assumptions and experience adjustments are
recognized in the statement of recognized income and expense. Surpluses are only capitalized if they are
actually available to the Group in the form of expected refunds from the fund or reductions in contributions
to the fund.

 

Income taxes 

Current income tax payable is the expected tax payable on the taxable profit using tax rates enacted at the
balance sheet date.

Deferred taxes are calculated by applying the balance sheet liability method on the temporary differences
between the carrying amount and the tax base of assets and liabilities.

The calculation of deferred taxes is based on the applicable, enacted or substantially enacted tax rate of the
respective entity. Deferred tax assets on loss carry forwards and deductible temporary differences are
recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future profits will be available to utilize the deferred
tax asset.

 

 

 

 

 

Share-based payment  

Share-based payments to employees, such as stock options issued for services received are recognized as
compensation expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value of the stock options is
measured initially at grant date and is expensed straight-line over the period during which the employees
become unconditionally entitled to the options, known as the vesting period. The fair value of stock
options is measured using a binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the
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Revenue recognition 

Sales of goods are measured at fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns and
allowances, sales taxes and rebates. Revenue is recognized when the significant risk and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated
costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, and there is no continuing management
involvement with the goods.

Financial instruments 

Non-derivative financial instruments 

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans
and borrowings and trade and other payables.

These financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, and changes therein are recognized in the
income statement.

Derivative financial instruments 

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to economically hedge certain exposures to foreign
exchange rate risks. Hedge accounting is not applied. Derivative financial instruments are recognized
initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial instruments are also stated at fair
value. Any resultant gain or loss is recognized directly in the income statement.

 

Share capital 

Incremental costs directly attributable to issue ordinary shares and share options are recognized as a
deduction from equity.

 

Financial lease and operating lease 
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expense and the defined benefit obligation (DBO) are determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method.
The last valuation of the defined benefit obligation was carried out as per December 31, 2007.

Current service costs are recorded in the income statement in the period in which they are occurred. Past-
service costs are recognized immediately in the income statement unless the changes to the pension plan
are conditional on the employees remaining in service for a specified period of time. In this case, the past-
service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining service period.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in actuarial assumptions and experience adjustments are
recognized in the statement of recognized income and expense. Surpluses are only capitalized if they are
actually available to the Group in the form of expected refunds from the fund or reductions in contributions
to the fund.

 

Income taxes 

Current income tax payable is the expected tax payable on the taxable profit using tax rates enacted at the
balance sheet date.

Deferred taxes are calculated by applying the balance sheet liability method on the temporary differences
between the carrying amount and the tax base of assets and liabilities.

The calculation of deferred taxes is based on the applicable, enacted or substantially enacted tax rate of the
respective entity. Deferred tax assets on loss carry forwards and deductible temporary differences are
recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future profits will be available to utilize the deferred
tax asset.

 

Share-based payment  

Share-based payments to employees, such as stock options issued for services received are recognized as
compensation expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value of the stock options is
measured initially at grant date and is expensed straight-line over the period during which the employees
become unconditionally entitled to the options, known as the vesting period. The fair value of stock
options is measured using a binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted. The amount recognized as compensation expense is adjusted to reflect the actual
number of stock options that are expected to vest.

 

 

 

New IFRS issued but not effective in 2007 

The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations, which are or may be applicable to u-blox,
have been issued, but are not yet effective and are not applied early in these consolidated financial
statements. Their impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group has not yet been
systematically analyzed. The expected effects as disclosed below the table reflect a first assessment by
Group management.

Standard / Interpretation Impact Effective date 
Planned application 

by u-blox 

IFRS 2 – Share based payment: Vesting conditions
and cancellations (revised)

* January 1, 2009 Reporting year 2009

IFRS 3 - Business Combinations * July 1, 2009 Reporting year 2010

IFRS 8 - Operating Segments * January 1, 2009 Reporting year 2009

IAS 1 - (Revised) Presentation of Financial
Statements

** January 1, 2009 Reporting year 2009

IAS 23 - (Revised) Borrowing Costs * January 1, 2009 Reporting year 2009

IAS 27 – Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements

* July 1, 2009 Reporting year 2010

IFRIC 11 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions * March 1, 2007 Reporting year 2008

IFRIC 12 - Service Concession Arrangements * January 1, 2008 Reporting year 2008

IFRIC 13 - Customer Loyalty Programmes * July 1, 2008 Reporting year 2009

IFRIC 14 - The limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding Requirements and their
Interaction

*** January 1, 2008 Reporting year 2008

* No or no significant impacts are expected on the consolidated financial statements of u-blox.

** Mainly additional disclosures are expected in the consolidated financial statements of u-blox.

*** The effects on the consolidated financial statements of u-blox cannot yet be determined with sufficient certainty.

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgments and assumptions which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the
financial statements:

Inventory  

Management records a write-down for inventories which have become obsolete or are in excess of
anticipated demand or net realizable value. A detailed review of inventory is performed each period that
considers multiple factors including demand forecasts, market conditions, product life cycle status, product
development plans and current sales levels. If future demand or market conditions for the products are less
favorable than forecasted or if unforeseen technological changes negatively impact the utility of
component inventory, management may be required to record additional write-downs which would
negatively impact gross margins in the period when the write-downs are recorded. If actual market
conditions are more favorable, the Group may have higher gross margins when products incorporating
inventory that was previously written down are sold (see Note 9).
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Recoverability of accounts receivable  

Management makes estimates of the collectibility of accounts receivable and regularly reviews the
adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts after considering the amount of aged accounts
receivable, each customer’s ability to pay, and the collection history of each customer. Management
regularly reviews past due invoices to determine if an allowance is appropriate based on the customer’s risk
category using the factors discussed above. Assumptions and judgments regarding collectibility of accounts
receivable could differ from actual events. While credit losses have historically been within the Group’s
expectations and the allowance established, the Group may not continue to experience the same credit
loss rates as in the past.

To control the risk of the recoverability of accounts receivable, an insurance policy covering the risk of
customers’ insolvency has been entered into (further details on accounts receivable see Note 7).

Income taxes 

At December 31, 2007, the liability for current income taxes is CHF 0.05 million (Note 14), the liability for
deferred income taxes is CHF 0.5 million and the asset for deferred income taxes is CHF 6.0 million (as
disclosed in Note 24). Current tax liabilities are measured on the basis of interpretations of the tax
regulations in place in the relevant countries. Management believes that these estimates are reasonable
and that the recognized assets and liabilities taking into account income tax-related uncertainties are
adequate. Various internal and external factors may have favorable or unfavorable effects on income tax
assets and liabilities. The adequacy of the Group’s interpretation is assessed by the tax authorities in the
course of the final assessments or tax audits, which can result in material changes to tax expense.

Furthermore, in order to determine whether tax loss carryforwards may be carried as an asset, the Group
critically assesses the probability that there will be future taxable profits against which to offset them. This
assessment depends on a variety of influencing factors and developments. Changes in these factors may
have a material effect on tax expense (see Note 24).

Pension liabilities 

The Swiss pension plan qualifies as a defined benefit plan. The determination of the recognized assets and
liabilities from this plan are based upon statistical and actuarial calculations. The present value of the
defined benefit obligation is impacted by assumptions on discount rates used to arrive at the present value
of future pension liabilities and assumptions on future increases in salaries and benefits. Additionally, the
Group’s independent actuaries use statistically based assumptions covering areas such as future
withdrawals of participants from the plan and estimates on life expectancy. The actuarial assumptions used
may differ materially from actual results due to changes in market and economic conditions, higher or
lower withdrawal rates or longer or shorter life spans of participants and other changes in the factors being
assessed. These differences could materially impact the assets or liabilities recognized in the balance sheet
in future periods. At December 31, 2007, the net present value of the Group’s defined benefit obligation is
CHF 0.9 million (see Note 15).

Litigation and claims 

On November 5, 2007 a claim was filed by CEVA Technologies Ltd., a license partner of u-blox for the
Antaris products, at the Zurich commercial court. The claim requests compensation for damages for alleged
breaches of the licensing agreement, in order to specify the amount to be claimed there is a request for
extensive information. Management has assessed the likelihood that this claim could result in an adverse
outcome and has prepared these financial statements accordingly. The conclusions are not disclosed, as
this would seriously impair the position of u-blox in the legal proceedings. If these proceedings are resolved
in an outcome that is different from management's current estimate, u-blox may be exposed to additional
liabilities that are not currently provided for.

4 SEGMENT REPORTING 

The Group develops and distributes GPS receivers mainly used in automotive, industrial and consumer
applications. The GPS receivers are produced by third parties. The Group coordinates the whole supply
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4 SEGMENT REPORTING 

The Group develops and distributes GPS receivers mainly used in automotive, industrial and consumer
applications. The GPS receivers are produced by third parties. The Group coordinates the whole supply
chain and is responsible for planning the world-wide production and distribution of the products. All
products are similar in nature across the world and cannot be further subdivided in terms of specific
customer segments. All products are using the same base technology developed by u-blox.

u-blox in Switzerland is the main decision making body and bears the associated risks. For reasons of
maintaining a market presence in proximity to the customers, marketing, and sales are managed by three
regional managers, respectively. However, resource allocation to these regions is not meaningful as the
regional staff is mainly acting as representative of u-blox and regional managers are not part of the
management of u-blox.

For those reasons, the Group has determined that it operates as a single operating and reportable
segment.

Geographic information

The following table summarizes sales by geographic region based on customers’ location:

For the year ended
in CHF 000s % share in CHF 000s % share

EMEA 29'712 37.9 19'516 35.9
Americas 21'529 27.5 18'874 34.7
Asia Pacific 27'119 34.6 15'990 29.4

Total 

December 31, 2007

78'360 100.0

December 31, 2006

54'380 100.0

5 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

(in CHF 000s) 2007 2006

Petty cash 5 3
Cash at banks 3'496 1'635
Call and fixed-term deposits 82'421 14'373

Total 

Composition of cash by currency in CHF 000s:
CHF 70'669 11'010
USD 10'691 2'317
EUR 4'489 2'599
GBP 16 5
SGD 10 80
HKD 1 0
CNY 46 0

85'922 16'011

At December 31, 

In 2007, the call and fixed-term deposits bore interest at an average interest rate of 2.6 % (2.1 % in 2006).
The investment period ranged from 48 hours to three months for the periods presented.
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Asia Pacific 27'119 34.6 15'990 29.4

Total 

December 31, 2007

78'360 100.0

December 31, 2006

54'380 100.0

Revenues by region are based on customers’ location.

5 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

(in CHF 000s) 2007 2006

Petty cash 5 3
Cash at banks 3'496 1'635
Call and fixed-term deposits 82'421 14'373

Total 

Composition of cash by currency in CHF 000s:
CHF 70'669 11'010
USD 10'691 2'317
EUR 4'489 2'599
GBP 16 5
SGD 10 80
HKD 1
CNY 46

85'922 16'011

At December 31, 

In 2007, the call and fixed-term deposits bore interest at an average interest rate of 2.6 % (2.1 % in 2006).
The investment period ranged from 48 hours to three months for the periods presented.

6 SHORT-TERM INVESTMENT 

A short-term investment of CHF 3 million was disposed of in 2006. This fixed-term deposit was
denominated in CHF with a maturity of more than 90 days at the time of investment and earned interest at
a rate of 1.1 % in 2006. No short-term investments were entered into in 2007.

 

7 TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

(in CHF 000s) 2007 2006

Gross amount 7'969 6'262
Allowance for doubtful receivables -197 -128

Total 

Composition by currency in CHF 000s:
CHF 0 0
USD 5'405 4'428
EUR 2'367 1'706

Composition by region in CHF 000s:
EMEA 2'545 2'080
Americas 2'097 2'588
Asia Pacific 3'130 1'466

Trade accounts receivable by region are based on customers' location.

At December 31, 

7'772 6'134

At the balance sheet date the ageing structure of the trade receivables was as follows:

(in CHF 000s)
Value 

adjusted
Value 

adjusted
Receivables receivables Receivables receivables

Not yet due 5'054 4'956 3'286 3'226
1 - 30days overdue 2'289 2'204 2'443 2'391
31 - 90days overdue 538 533 490 490
91 - 180days overdue 61 61 13 13
more than180days overdue 27 18 30 14

Total 7'969 7'772

At December 31, At December 31, 

6'262 6'134

2007 2006

 

The allowance for doubtful receivables can be further analyzed as follows:

(in CHF 000s) 2007 2006

As per January 1 92 103
Increase/(decrease) 105 -11
As per December 31 197 92

As per January 1 36 2
Increase/(decrease) -36 34
As per December 31 0 36

Total value adjustments 197 128

Individually assessed value adjustments

Collectively assessed value adjustment

The individually assessed impairment losses amount to TCHF 197 (previous year: TCHF 92). It is assumed
that part of the underlying receivables will eventually be paid.

For further information on credit management and trade accounts receivable see Note 25.

8 OTHER RECEIVABLES 

(in CHF 000s) 2007 2006

VAT Austria 852 971
VAT Switzerland 227 81
Withholding tax Switzerland 156 77
Social security prepayment 91 0
Other prepayments 8 13
Other receivables 3 2

Total 1'337 1'144

At December 31, 
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9 INVENTORY 

(in CHF 000s) 2007 2006

Rawmaterial (components) 2'511 1'695
Work in process 73 0
Finished products 2'662 3'209
Allowance for obsolete inventory -75 -50

Total 

At December 31, 

5'171 4'854 

Components, work in process and changes in finished products recognized as cost of sales amounted to
CHF 44.3 million (2006: CHF 29.6 million). The allowance for obsolete inventory relates to inventory
written down to nil.

 

10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

(in CHF 000s) 

Cost Furniture, 
equipment 

and vehicles

IT infra-
structure

Tools Total

Balance per 01.01.2006 1'157 788 73 2'018
Additions 262 151 570 983
Write-offs -9 -61 0 -70
Translation differences -2 -3 0 -5
Balance per 31.12.2006 1'408 875 643 2'926
Additions 1'399 794 439 2'632
Write-offs -8 -63 0 -71
Translation differences -11 -5 0 -16
Balance per 31.12.2007 2'788 1'601 1'082 5'471

Accumulated depreciation Furniture, 
equipment 

and vehicles

IT infra-
structure

Tools Total

Balance per 01.01.2006 907 551 20 1'478
Depreciation 175 226 92 493
Write-offs -9 -61 0 -70
Translation differences -2 -2 0 -4
Balance per 31.12.2006 1'071 714 112 1'897
Depreciation 430 292 419 1'141
Write-offs -8 -63 0 -71
Translation differences -3 -4 0 -7
Balance per 31.12.2007 1'490 939 531 2'960

Net book value per 31.12.2006 337 161 531 1'029
Net book value per 31.12.2007 1'298 662 551 2'511

 
The value of property, plant and equipment for the purposes of insurance against fire amounted to CHF
2.6 million at December 31, 2007 (CHF 1.1 million at December 31, 2006).

During the years ended December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2007 no impairment losses were
recognized on tangible assets. The Group did not have any capital commitments as of December 31, 2007.
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11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

(in CHF 000s) 

Cost Intellectual
property

rights

Software Capitalized
development

costs

Total

Balance per 01.01.2006 1'129 740 1'611 3'480
Additions 1 94 2'637 2'732
Write-offs 0 -72 0 -72
Translation differences 0 1 0 1
Balance per 31.12.2006 1'130 763 4'248 6'141
Additions 365 387 1'945 2'697
Write-offs 0 -124 0 -124
Translation differences 0 0 0 0
Balance per 31.12.2007 1'495 1'026 6'193 8'714

Accumulated amortization Intellectual
property

rights

Software Capitalized
development

costs

Total

Balance per 01.01.2006 954 603 591 2'148
Amortization 165 79 1'183 1'427
Write-offs 0 -72 0 -72
Translation differences 0 1 0 1
Balance per 31.12.2006 1'119 611 1'774 3'504
Amortization 86 201 1'918 2'205
Write-offs 0 -124 0 -124
Translation differences 0 0 0 0
Balance per 31.12.2007 1'205 688 3'692 5'585

Net book values per 31.12.2006 11 152 2'474 2'637
Net book values per 31.12.2007 290 338 2'501 3'129

During the years ended December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2007 no impairment losses were
recognized on intangible assets. The Group did not have any capital commitments as of December 31,
2007.

 

 

12 TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

(in CHF 000s) 2007 2006

Trade accounts payable 3'620 2'414

Total 

Composition by currency in CHF 000s:
CHF 510 187
USD 1'709 645
EUR 1'394 1'556
GBP 2 26
SGD 5 0

At December 31, 

3'620 2'414

 

13 OTHER PAYABLES 

The increase of other payables in 2007 is mainly due to the increase in social security payable in connection
with the exercise of employee stock options in October 2007.

14 ACCRUED EXPENSES 

(in CHF 000s) 2007 2006

Personnel 2'143 2'049
Current tax liability 49 0
Other accruals 4'617 1'780

Total 

At December 31, 

6'809 3'829

Accrued expenses include liabilities for profit sharing as well as accruals for compensated untaken leave,
social security, licenses, insurances, warranties and lawyer and administration services. Accrued expenses
also include unpaid amounts due to Tyco (based on Atmel-Chipset sales recognized; see Note 16).

15 PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED COST  

The Group maintains a defined benefit plan in Switzerland and defined contribution plans in the United
States of America (USA), China and Singapore. These plans comply with prevailing legal requirements to
cover the majority of employees in the event of death, disability and retirement. The plans are financed by
employer and employee contributions in compliance with local legal and fiscal regulations.

Defined benefit plans  

For the Swiss pension plan, retirement benefits are dependent on the accumulated retirement capital
which can either be drawn as a joint-life pension or as a lump sum payment. Other benefits provided by
the Swiss pension plan include a disability pension, death benefits and related benefits for pension plan
participants’ children.

The assets of the pension plan are held within a separate foundation and cannot revert to the employer.
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Amount recognized in the balance sheet  

in CHF 000s 
As of December 31, 

 
2007 2006

Present value of defined benefit obligation 6’704 5’618
Fair value of plan assets -5’806 -4’967
Underfunding 898 651
Net liability 898 651

Changes in the net liability recognized in the balance sheet 

 
in CHF 000s 

 
2007 2006

Net liability at January 1, 651 372
Cost of defined benefit plan 570 400
Contributions by employer -249 -452
Change in actuarial losses -74 331
Net liability at December 31, 898 651

Principal actuarial assumptions 

Calculation of defined benefit obligations 

As of December 31, 2007 2006
Discount rate 3.25% 2.75%
Future salary increases 2.00% 2.00%
Future pension indexations 0.50% 0.50%

Calculation of expense 

 2007 2006
Discount rate 2.75% 2.75%
Expected return on plan assets 3.16% 3.07%

 

Asset classes and expected return 

 Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 

 Share of total 
assets (%)

Expected
return

Share of total 
assets (%) 

Expected
return

Equities 13.35 6.50% 14.13 6.10%
Bonds 60.21 3.00% 58.79 2.70%
Real estate 14.14 4.40% 7.97 4.10%
Others 12.30 3.00% 19.11 2.00%
  

 

The following amounts have been recorded in the income statement:

 
in CHF 000s 

 
2007 2006

Current service cost 508 415
Interest cost 185 118
Expected return on plan assets -171 -133
Prior service cost recognized in year 48 0
Total cost of defined benefit plans 570 400
  
Actual return on plan assets -71 212

The following amounts are recognized in the statement of recognized income and expense for the pension
plan: 

 
in CHF 000s 

 
2007 2006

Recognized actuarial losses 503 172

Actuarial (gain) / loss on the defined benefit obligation -92 410
Actuarial loss / (gain) on plan assets 242 -79
Company prepayments in 2006 for 2007 premiums -224 0
Net actuarial (gain) / loss for the year -74 331
Cumulative amount of recognized actuarial losses at end of 
the year 429 503

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation 

 
in CHF 000s 

 
2007 2006

Opening defined benefit obligation 5’618 4’172
Current service cost 508 415
Interest cost 185 118
Plan participants' contributions 316 245
Actuarial (gain) / loss -92 410
Benefit payments and net transferrals 121 258
Prior service cost recognized in year 48 0
Closing defined benefit obligation 6’704 5’618

Changes in the fair value of plan assets  

 
in CHF 000s 

 
2007 2006

Opening fair value of plan assets 4’967 3’800
Expected return on plan assets 171 133
Actuarial (loss) / gain on plan assets -242 79
Contributions by employer 249 452
Plan participants' contributions 316 245
Benefit payments and net transferral 121 258
Company prepayments in 2006 for 2007 premiums 224 0
Closing fair value of plan assets 5’806 4’967

The expected costs of the Group for defined benefit plans for the financial year 2008 amount to TCHF 642.
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Development of defined benefit obligations and plan assets  

The following table shows the deviations between actual and assumed development of plan liabilities and
assets.

in CHF 000s   
As of December 31, 2007  2006   2005
Defined benefit obligation 6’704 5’618 4’172
Fair value of assets -5’806 -4’967 -3’800
Underfunding 898 651 372
Experience losses on plan liabilities 303 266 149
Experience losses / (gains) on assets 242 -79 -144

Defined contribution plans

In 2007, Group contributions to defined contribution plans were CHF 0.04 million (2006: CHF 0.06
million).

 

16 RESTRUCTURED FINANCIAL LIABILITY 

Tyco finance agreement 

As a result of the cancellation of a significant order placed by Benefon Oy, Finland for MS1E modules in
2000, the Group entered into a payment restructuring agreement in relation to the outstanding payable
with its supplier, Tyco Electronics AMP GmbH, Germany (Tyco). Under this restructuring agreement, the
payment terms of the outstanding payable were extended. During this extension period, the outstanding
payable was subject to interest at the market interest rate.

In 2003 the Group entered into an additional payment restructuring agreement for the residual debt.
Under this agreement, Tyco waived a portion of EUR 1.5 million in return for receiving future license
revenue from Antaris-Chipset sales during the years 2003 to 2008. Based on sales forecasts the Group
recognized a financial liability for the license revenue of EUR 1.4 million at the date of the agreement. In
addition, as part of this agreement Tyco agreed to cover 40 % of the loss on sales for MS1E modules.

As per December 31, 2007 the residual fair value of the restructured financial liability amounts to CHF 0.6
million (2006: CHF 1.11 million), and has developed as follows:

Total
(in CHF 000s)

Balance per Jan. 1, 2006 1'963 1'963
Restructured financial liability paid -889 -889
Interest (unwind of discount) 35 35
Balance per Dec. 31, 2006 1'109 1'109
Restructured financial liability paid -533 -533
Interest (unwind of discount) 3 3
Balance per Dec. 31, 2007 579 579

thereof (in CHF 000s) Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

Current liability 579 1'048
Non-current liability 0 61

Tyco
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17 SHARE CAPITAL 

The Company’s shares are registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.90 (2006: CHF 9.00) each. With
the incorporation of u-blox Holding AG in September 2007, 100 % of the u-blox AG shares were
exchanged with the existing shareholders at that time for an equal number of shares of u-blox Holding AG.
In October 2007 each share, with a nominal value of CHF 9.00, was split into ten shares, with a nominal
value of CHF 0.90. The movements in issued share capital for the years ended December 31, 2007 and
2006 are as follows:

  2007 2006 

 

 

Number of 
shares 

Share 
capital 

(CHF 000s) 

Number of 
shares 

Share 
capital 

(CHF 000s) 

Issued capital at January 1, 469’582 4’226 460’625 4’145 

Event:  
Shares issued in connection with
stock options exercised 29’755 268 8’957 81

Share split 1:10
cancellation of shares at nom.
CHF 9.00 -499’337 - - -

Share split 1:10
issue of new shares at nom. CHF
0.90 4’993’370 - - -

Shares issued in connection with
the IPO at nom. CHF 0.90 1’250’000 1’125 - -

Issued capital at December 31, 6’243’370 5’619 469’582 4’226 

Authorized share capital at Dec. 31, 1’248’674 1’124 - -

Conditional share capital at Dec. 31, 624’337 562 74’377 669 
 
 

Shares issued through exercise of stock options 

During 2007, 29’755 stock options (2006: 8’957 options) were exercised out of the conditional share
capital, resulting in a total issuance of CHF 267’795. The Group received proceeds of CHF 289’255.

Shares issued in connection with the IPO

On October 25, 2007, u-blox Holding AG offered, in an initial public offering (IPO), some of its shares to
the market. The offered shares consisted of 1’250’000 newly issued shares at a share price of CHF 51.00
each which resulted into gross proceeds of TCHF 63’750. Transaction costs of totally TCHF 4’627 relating
to the IPO were debited to equity (TCHF 3’812 for primary shares offered) and expensed (TCHF 815 for
secondary shares offered).

Authorized share capital

At the extraordinary shareholders meeting of u-blox Holding AG held on October 16, 2007, the
shareholders resolved that the Board of Directors shall be authorized, at any time until October 16, 2009,
to increase the share capital through the issuance of up to 1'248'674 fully paid-in registered shares with a
nominal value of CHF 0.90 each.

 

On December 31, 2007, the authorized share capital amounted to CHF 1’123’806.60 (1’248’674 shares of
CHF 0.90 each).

Conditional share capital

At the extraordinary shareholders' meeting held on October 16, 2007 of u-blox Holding AG, the
shareholders' resolved that the Board of Directors shall be authorized to increase the share capital by a
maximum aggregate amount of CHF 561'903.30 by issuing no more than 624'337 fully paid-in registered
shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.90 each.  

The conditional share capital will be used for the exercise of option rights that will be granted to the
members of the Board of Directors and to the employees of the Company and its subsidiaries according to
any future employee share option plans (ESOP) as to be approved by the Board of Directors.
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19 EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income attributable to the equity holders of u-
blox Holding AG by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year.

In the case of diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of shares outstanding is adjusted
assuming all outstanding dilutive options will be exercised. The weighted average number of shares is
adjusted for all dilutive options issued under the stock option plans which have been granted.

 

For the year ended December 31, December 31,
2007 2006

Net profit (in CHF 000s) 5'444 7'360
Weighted average number
of outstanding shares (basic)

4'984'131 4'610'170

Effect of share options on issue 203'664 131'840

Weighted average number
of outstanding shares (diluted)

5'187'795 4'742'010

Basic earnings per share
(in CHF) 1.09 1.60
Diluted earnings per share
(in CHF) 1.05 1.55

As of December 31, 2007 the Group had no outstanding options (December 31, 2006: 25’599
outstanding options) granted to employees (see Note 20). The 2006 comparative earnings per share and
diluted earnings per share figures were adjusted in order to take into consideration the share split which
took place in 2007.

20 EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS 

(a) Personnel expenses 

Personnel expenses included in operating expenses consisted of the following:

 

For the year ended
(in CHF 000s)

December 31, 
2007

December 31, 
2006

Salaries 8'529 7'486
Share-based payments 3'166 821
Social taxes 1'377 666
Pension cost (see Note 15) 605 460
Other personnel related expenses 1'085 484
Total personnel expenses 14'762 9'917

Average number of employees (FTE*) 73.1 53.2

*(FTE = Full Time Equivalent)

 
(b) Stock option plans 

Key employees of the Group were entitled to receive options under two separate stock option plans with
different vesting-periods ranging up to four-years at exercise prices ranging between CHF 9 and CHF 500
respectively.
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18 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

For further information on the share capital see Note 17.
Approximately CHF 2.8 million of the share premium is not available for distribution due to legal restrictions.

(in CHF 000s) Notes

Share
capital

Share
premium

Cumulative
translation
differences

Accumulated 
losses

Balance at January 1, 2006 4'145 38'687 262 -22'623 20'471

Total recognized income
and expense for the year 0 0 -13 7'086 7'073

Increase in share capital 17 81 0 0 0 81
Cost of share capital increase 17 0 -4 0 0 -4
Share-based payments 20 0 821 0 0 821

Balance at December 31, 2006 4'226 39'504 249 -15'537 28'442

Balance at January 1, 2007 4'226 39'504 249 -15'537 28'442

Total recognized income
and expense for the year 0 0 -93 5'504 5'411

Increase in share capital 17 1'393 62'646 0 0 64'039
Cost of share capital increase 17 0 -3'812 0 0 -3'812
Allocation of deferred taxes on

IPO costs directly debited to equity 0 356 0 0 356
Share-based payments 20 0 3'166 0 0 3'166

Balance at December 31, 2007 5'619 101'860 156 -10'033 97'602

Total
equity
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19 EARNINGS PER SHARE 
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(b) Stock option plans 

Key employees of the Group were entitled to receive options under two separate stock option plans with
different vesting-periods ranging up to four-years at exercise prices ranging between CHF 9 and CHF 500
respectively.

 

In 2007 a number of options were granted to the founding and Executive Committee members and certain
Non-Executive Board members.

All stock options vested immediately due to the initial public offering of u-blox Holding AG in October
2007.

The following table details the movements of outstanding employee stock options from January 1, 2006
until December 31, 2007:

For the year ended               
Weighted 

average exercise 
price in CHF

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average exercise 

price in CHF

Number of 
options

Opening balance                      9.93                25'599                   28.96               28'178 
Granted 9.00 5'120 9.00 6'880
Change strike price - old 0.00 0 48.03 -12'524
Change strike price - new 0.00 0 9.00 12'524
Exercised 9.72 -29'755 9.00 -8'957
Cancelled 11.30 -964 37.09 -340
Expired 0.00 0 258.22 -162
Ending balance 0.00 0                      9.93               25'599 
– Thereof vested 0.00 0 36.73 854

December 31,  2007 December 31,  2006

The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2007 was, before split, CHF 316.97 (in 2006:
CHF 119.01). The fair value of stock options granted is estimated at the date of grant using a binomial
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following
table lists the inputs to the model used for the year ended December 31, 2007:

2007 2006 
Dividend yield 0.00% 0.00%
Expected volatility 42.9% 43.0%
Historical volatility 42.9% 43.0%
Risk-free interest rate 3.03% 2.25%
Expected life of option 0.30 years 1.06 years
Expected exit rate after vesting 0.0% 1.0%
Weighted average share price CHF 325.89 CHF 127.42 

The expected volatility was based on the historical volatility of a selection of comparable companies.

The expense for employee services received is recognized over the vesting period. Due to the IPO in 2007
the vesting period of all outstanding options ceased immediately, therefore the remaining expenses of the
exercised options not yet considered were expensed in 2007. The stock option expense recognized in 2007
was CHF 3.17 million (CHF 0.82 million in 2006).

No decision on a future employee stock option plan (ESOP) has been made, yet.
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was CHF 3.17 million (CHF 0.82 million in 2006).

No decision on a future employee stock option plan (ESOP) has been made, yet. 

21 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT  

22 OPERATING EXPENSES BY NATURE 

(in CHF 000s) Note 2007 2006
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Depreciation 10 1'141 493
Amortization 11 2'205 1'427
Travel - and representation expenses 1'327 1'088
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(in CHF 000s) 2007 2006
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Total research and development expenses 9'653 5'803

 

In 2007 a number of options were granted to the founding and Executive Committee members and certain
Non-Executive Board members.

All stock options vested immediately due to the initial public offering of u-blox Holding AG in October
2007.

The following table details the movements of outstanding employee stock options from January 1, 2006
until December 31, 2007:

For the year ended               
Weighted 

average exercise 
price in CHF

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average exercise 

price in CHF

Number of 
options

Opening balance                      9.93                25'599                   28.96               28'178 
Granted 9.00 5'120 9.00 6'880
Change strike price - old 0.00 0 48.03 -12'524
Change strike price - new 0.00 0 9.00 12'524
Exercised 9.72 -29'755 9.00 -8'957
Cancelled 11.30 -964 37.09 -340
Expired 0.00 0 258.22 -162
Ending balance 0.00 0                      9.93               25'599 
– Thereof vested 0.00 0 36.73 854

December 31,  2007 December 31,  2006

The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2007 was, before split, CHF 316.97 (in 2006:
CHF 119.01). The fair value of stock options granted is estimated at the date of grant using a binomial
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following
table lists the inputs to the model used for the year ended December 31, 2007:
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Expected volatility 42.9% 43.0%
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Risk-free interest rate 3.03% 2.25%
Expected life of option 0.30 years 1.06 years
Expected exit rate after vesting 0.0% 1.0%
Weighted average share price CHF 325.89 CHF 127.42 

The expected volatility was based on the historical volatility of a selection of comparable companies.

The expense for employee services received is recognized over the vesting period. Due to the IPO in 2007
the vesting period of all outstanding options ceased immediately, therefore the remaining expenses of the
exercised options not yet considered were expensed in 2007. The stock option expense recognized in 2007
was CHF 3.17 million (CHF 0.82 million in 2006).

No decision on a future employee stock option plan (ESOP) has been made, yet.
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No decision on a future employee stock option plan (ESOP) has been made, yet.
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23 FINANCIAL INCOME / FINANCE COSTS 

Recognized in profit or loss

(in CHF 000s) Note 2007 2006

Interest income on bank deposits 665 256

Financial income 665                256                

Interest expense on Tyco finance agreement 16 -3 -35
Other financial expenses -7 -2
Foreign exchange result (net) -1'107 -400

Financial expenses -1'117          -437               

IPO expenses 17 -815 0

Other finance costs -815             0

Total, net -1'267             -181                

All financial income and costs from financial assets and financial liabilities have been recognized in the
income statement.
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

a) credit risk
b) liquidity risk
c) market risk
c1) interest rate risk
c2) currency risk
d) fair values. 

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of
capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial statements.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk
management framework. The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the
risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to
limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions
and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures,
aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their
roles and obligations.

The Group Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk
management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in
relation to the risks faced by the Group. Internal reviews by Group accountant assist the Group Audit
Committee in its oversight role. Internally both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls
and procedures are effected.

a) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers
and investment securities.

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer.
The demographics of the Group’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country in
which customers operate, has less of an influence on credit risk.

In general, the Group minimizes part of the credit risk by way of credit insurance or a requirement of
customers to either guarantee their payment by Letter of Credit (L/C) or to make a payment in advance.
Collections and payments are continuously monitored.

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect
of trade and other receivables and investments. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss
component that relates to individually significant exposures, and a collective loss component established
for groups of similar assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet identified. The collective
loss allowance is determined based on historical data of payment statistics for similar financial assets.

 

Investments

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in fixed time deposits with counterparties that
have a credit rating of at least A1 from Standard & Poor’s and A from Moody’s. Given these high credit
ratings, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

Guarantees

The Group’s policy is to provide financial guarantees only to wholly-owned subsidiaries. At 31 December
2007 no guarantees were outstanding (31 December 2006: none).

The maximum credit risk on financial instruments corresponds to the carrying amounts of the individual
financial assets. u-blox has not entered into any guarantees or similar obligations that would increase the
risk over and above the carrying amounts. Details of the due dates of receivables are shown in Note 7.

The maximum credit risk as per the balance sheet date was as follows:

For the year ended
(in CHF 000s)

December 31, 
2007

December 31, 
2006

Cash and cash equivalents 85'922 16'011
Trade accounts receivable 7'772 6'134
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 1'070 757
Other financial assets 247 161
Total 95'011 23'063 

b) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group uses short-term forecasts, which assists it in monitoring cash flow requirements and optimizing
its cash return on investments. Typically the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet
expected operational expenses for a period of 60 days, including the servicing of financial obligations; this
excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as
natural disasters. In addition, the Group maintains the following lines of credit:

The Group has access to an undrawn CHF 3 million overdraft facility that is secured. Interest would be
payable at the rate of 3 % p.a. plus commission of ¼ % per quarter. The bank may adjust the interest rate
in line with the market interest rates. Securities are nominated up to CHF 3.1 million.

Management considers that the Group is not exposed to any significant risks arising from not being able to
meet the financial obligations at the end of the reporting period.
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The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:

For the year ended 2007
(in CHF 000s)

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows

up to 6 
months

6-12 
months

1 - 5 years

Trade accounts payable 3'620 3'620 3'620 0 0
Other payables 3'202 3'202 3'202 0 0
Accrued expenses 6'809 6'809 6'809 0 0
Restructured financial liability 579 579 289 290 0
Total 14'210 14'210 13'920 290 0

For the year ended 2006
(in CHF 000s)

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows

up to 6 
months

6-12 
months

1 - 5 years

Trade accounts payable 2'414 2'414 2'414 0 0
Other payables 286 286 286 0 0
Accrued expenses 3'829 3'829 3'829 0 0
Restructured financial liability 1'109 1'112 524 524 64
Total 7'638 7'641 7'053 524 64

c) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimizing the return.

c1) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk arises from movements in interest rates which could have adverse effects on the Group’s
net income or financial position. The Group places its cash and cash equivalents primarily in short-term
interest-bearing accounts. The Group has no interest-bearing liability as of December 31, 2007. Therefore
no significant interest rate risk exposure exists. Revenue and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. The cash position is used for general corporate purposes
and to fund the planned growth. Management considers that the Group is not exposed to any significant
risks arising from changes in market interest rates and therefore no hedging instruments are utilized.

 

c2) Currency risk 

Almost all of the sales and costs of sales are denominated in US dollars or Euros. A majority of overhead
and other fixed costs are denominated in Swiss Francs. This exposure to different currencies potentially
results in gains or losses with respect to movements in foreign exchange rates and the impact of such
fluctuations can be material. Accordingly, u-blox enters into hedging transactions pursuant to which u-blox
purchase Swiss francs under forward purchase contracts in order to minimize its Swiss francs exposure.
These transactions require judgments and assumptions about the future expense levels, and as a result, do
not entirely eliminate the exposure to currency fluctuations. Furthermore, while the hedging transactions
provide fixed currency rates for periods covered by the contracts, the transactions will not protect the
Group from long-term movements in currency rates. The fact that sales and costs of sales are to a certain
extent denominated in the same currency provides a natural hedge.

At the moment, there is a significant USD cash position, which is considered strategic for possible future
investments or expenses, and no further hedging contracts are planned at the moment. The cash position
is intended to be built up to USD 20 million and after that the hedging strategy will be reviewed.

The table below shows the significant currency risks arising from financial instruments in which the
currency involved is not congruent with the functional currency of the subsidiary which holds these
financial instruments:

For the year ended
(in CHF 000s)

USD EUR USD EUR

Cash and cash equivalents 9'780 4'487 1'268 2'583
Trade accounts receivable 1'803 2'367 1'423 1'706
Receivables from subsidiaries 3'801 0 3'228 0
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 107 404 65 315

Trade accounts payable -1'605 -1'394 -521 -1'556
Other payables 0 -6 0 0
Payables to subsidiaries -435 0 0 0
Accrued expenses -243 -106 -298 -224
Restructured financial liability 0 -579 0 -1'109

13'208 5'173 5'165 1'715
Foreign currency forward rate contracts -452 0 -2'423 0
Total currency exposure 12'756 5'173 2'742 1'715

Equity-like corporate loans to subsidiaries are not included in the above table.

December 31,
 2007

December 31,
2006

A 10 % change in exchange rates at December 31, 2007 would have increased or decreased net income
by the amounts listed below. The assumption underlying this analysis is that all other variables, in particular
interest rates, remain unchanged. Substantially larger effects on the income statement can be caused by
exchange rate changes related to business transactions during the year, which do not lie in the scope of the
application of IFRS 7.
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Sensitivity analysis 2007 USD/CHF EUR/CHF

Change +/- 10% 10%

(in CHF 000s)

Positive impact on income statement + 1'008 + 409
Negative impact on income statement - 1'008 - 409

In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the Group ensures
that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates
when necessary to address short-term imbalances.

The derivative financial instruments used as economic hedges of foreign currencies are summarized in the
table below. They are recognized at fair value as either part of prepaid assets or accrued expenses.

Positive Negative Total
3 3 - 12

Denominated in USD:
Sale 29 0 452 452 0

Total 2007 29 0 452 452 0
Total 2006 32 -6 2'423 1'458 965

Contract value
Due within months

Foreign currency forwards

(in CHF 000s)

Fair value

In 2007 and 2006, the Group entered into USD forward contracts to buy CHF.

d) Fair values 

The fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are equal to their carrying amounts. The
Group‘s risk management policy also includes risk coverage based on insurance protection.
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29 RELATED PARTIES 

Related parties are members of the Board of Directors and Executive Committee, close family members of
the aforementioned parties, and shareholders with a significant influence or control over the Group, as
well as entities under these parties' control. The figures for 2006 have been restated as they were
presented for extended key management personnel.

The total compensation paid to the Board of Directors and Executive Committee was:

For the year ended
(in CHF 000s)

December 31, 
2007

December 31, 
2006

Salaries 1'385 1'397
Share-based payments 2'718 559
Social taxes 727 145
Pension cost 97 91
Total compensations 4'927 2'192

There were no other significant transactions with related parties during the years ended December 31,
2007 and 2006.

The detailed disclosure of compensation and participation of the Board of Directors and Executive
Committee as per Swiss law can be found in the notes to the financial statements of u-blox Holding AG.

 
30 CLAIMS 

On November 5, 2007 a claim was filed by CEVA Technologies Ltd., a license partner of u-blox for the
Antaris products, at the Zurich commercial court. The claim requests compensation for damages for alleged
breaches of the licensing agreement, in order to specify the amount to be claimed there is a request for
extensive information. Management has assessed the likelihood that this claim could result in an adverse
outcome and has prepared these financial statements accordingly. The conclusions are not disclosed, as
this would seriously impair the position of u-blox in the legal proceedings. If these proceedings are resolved
in an outcome that is different from management's current estimate, u-blox may be exposed to additional
liabilities that are not currently provided for. 
 

 

 

31 POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 

There have been no events between December 31, 2007 and the date of authorization of these
consolidated financial statements that would lead to an adjustment of the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities presented as of December 31, 2007 or would otherwise have to be disclosed.
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BALANCE SHEET  

At December 31,

(in CHF) Note 2007

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash at bank 239'595
Call deposits and fixed-term deposits 56'150'000
Other receivables 6'399
Prepaid expenses and accrued income - third parties 215'194

- group companies 322'223

   Total current assets 56'933'411

Non-current assets
Loans to group companies 20'000'000
Investment in group company 2 14'697'917
Capitalized IPO costs 3'224'800

   Total non-current assets 37'922'717

Total assets 94'856'128

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Other payables 827'700
Accrued expenses - third parties 131'557

- group companies 106'243

Total liabilities 1'065'500

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 3 5'619'033
Legal reserve 88'003'934
Net income for the period 167'661

Total shareholders' equity 93'790'628

Total liabilities and sharholders' equity 94'856'128

INCOME STATEMENT 

September 21,
 - December 31,

(in CHF) 2007

Income
Interest income 400'143
Service fee income 155'556

Total income 555'699

Expenses
General and administrative expenses 251'717
Amortization of Capitalized IPO costs 121'821

Total expenses 373'538

Income before taxes 182'161

Income taxes -14'500

Net income for the period 167'661

BALANCE SHEET  

At December 31,

(in CHF) Note 2007

ASSETS
Current assets
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Call deposits and fixed-term deposits 56'150'000
Other receivables 6'399
Prepaid expenses and accrued income - third parties 215'194

- group companies 322'223

   Total current assets 56'933'411
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Total assets 94'856'128
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Other payables 827'700
Accrued expenses - third parties 131'557

- group companies 106'243

Total liabilities 1'065'500

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 3 5'619'033
Legal reserve 88'003'934
Net income for the period 167'661

Total shareholders' equity 93'790'628

Total liabilities and sharholders' equity 94'856'128
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6 Compensation and shareholdings 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS’s). This note has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of
Swiss law for companies, the Swiss Code of Obligations (SCO), and differs in certain respects from the
consolidated financial statements. In particular there are significant differences between the compensation
disclosures, which are due to different valuation and expense recognition rules being applied.

- Compensation paid to the members of the Board of Directors 2007

Compensation 1) Pension and Total
social insur- compensation

Number of options ance funds 1) 3) 2007 4)

CHF 000s before split CHF 000s CHF 000s CHF 000s
Edzard Reuter 21 200            63 14 98
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Chairman of the nomination and compensation committee
Hans-Ulrich Müller 16 16
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors
Member of the nomination and compensation committee
Member of the audit committee
Hansjörg Sage 16 16
Member of the nomination and compensation committee
Gerhard Tröster 16 150            48 19 83
Member of the Board of Directors
Soo Boon Quek 16 16
Member of the Board of Directors
Thomas Seiler 5) 5) 5) 5)

Member of the Board of Directors, executive member
Jean-Pierre Wyss 5) 5) 5) 5)

Member of the Board of Directors, executive member
Jürg Stahl 11 11
Chairman of the audit committee

Total 96         350            111          33             240                    

1) Accruals based.
2) The share based compensation consists of grant of options under the employee stock option plan in 2007. The options were

vested and exercised with the IPO. A number of options were granted to the founding and Executive Committee members and
certain Non-Executive Board members. The compensation is calculated with a weighted average share price of CHF 316.97 as at
grant date.
The shares obtained at execution of the option at IPO are subject to a lock up agreement for 365 days from October 26, 2007.

3) Including social security expenses related to the exercise of all options held at the time of the IPO.
4) Does not include reimbursement for travel and other necessary business expenses incurred in the performance of the services as

these are not considered to be part of compensation.
5) Compensated as member of the Executive Committee.

Share based
compensation 2)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1 Introduction 

u-blox Holding AG was incorporated on September 21, 2007 in Thalwil, Switzerland by exchange of 100 %
of the shares obtained by the shareholders of u-blox AG.

On October 25, 2007, u-blox Holding AG offered in an initial public offering some of its shares to the
public.

2 Investment 

Percentage
held Share capital

u-blox AG, Thalwil (Switzerland) 100 % holding CHF 4’226’238.00

3 Share capital 

The share capital consists of 6’243’370 registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.90 each.

4 Authorized share capital 

At December 31,
2007

1'248'674 registered shares with a

nominal value of CHF 0.90 each 1'123'806.60

At the extraordinary shareholders meeting held on October 16, 2007, the shareholders resolved that
the Board of Directors shall be authorized, at any time until October 16, 2009, to increase the share
capital through the issuance of up to 1'248'674 fully paid-in registered shares with a nominal value of
CHF 0.90 each.

 
5 Conditional share capital 

At December 31,
2007

624'337 registered shares with a

nominal value of CHF 0.90 each 561'903.30

In October 2007, 29'755 stock options previously granted under the old stock options plans were
exercised out of the conditional share capital.

At the extraordinary shareholders' meeting held on October 16, 2007, the shareholders' resolved that
the Board of Directors shall be authorized to increase the share capital by a maximum aggregate
amount of CHF 561'903.30 by issuing no more than 624'337 fully paid-in registered shares with a
nominal value of CHF 0.90 each through the exercise of option rights granted to directors and
employees of the company and its subsidiaries on the basis of one or several participation plans as
to be approved by the Board of Directors.
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- Compensation paid to the members of the Executive Committee 2007

Salary 1) Bonus 1) Pension and Other Total
social insur- benefits 4) compensation

Number of options ance funds 1) 3) 2007
CHF 000s CHF 000s before split CHF 000s CHF 000s CHF 000s CHF 000s

Thomas Seiler 247 198 75 8 528
Member of the Board of Directors
CEO
Head of Marketing and Sales
Jean-Pierre Wyss 213 68 1'590             504 239 1'024
Member of the Board of Directors
CFO
Head of Production / Logistics
Andreas Thiel 213 68 1'590             504 239 1'024
Executive Vice President (R&D Hardware)

Daniel Ammann 213 68              1'590 504 238 1'023
Executive Vice President (R&D Software)

Total 886              402         4'770             1'512     791               8            3'599            

1) Accruals based. The bonus is based on a combination of EBIT ratios and the increase of the turnover of the Group.
2) The share based compensation consists of grant of options under the employee stock option plan in 2007. The options were

vested and exercised with the IPO. A number of options were granted to the founding and Executive Committee members and
certain Non-Executive Board members. The compensation is calculated with a weighted average share price of CHF 316.97 as at
grant date.
The shares obtained at execution of the option at IPO are subject to a lock up agreement for 365 days from October 26, 2007.

3) Including social security expenses related to the exercise of options held at the time of the IPO.
4) Does not include reimbursement for travel and other necessary business expenses incurred in the performance of the services as

these are not considered to be part of compensation.

Share based
compensation 2)

 

- Shareholdings of members of the Board of Directors, Executive Committee or persons related to them

Related persons and companies are family members and persons or companies which can exercise a
significant influence over the Group. Transactions with related persons and companies must be settled on
an arms length basis.

Apart from the compensation paid to the Board of Directors and Executive Committee and the regular
contributions to the various pension fund institutions, no transactions with related persons or companies
took place.

- Shareholdings Non-Executive members of the Board of Directors

Number of
u-blox Holding AG

shares as per
December 31, 2007

Edzard Reuter 28'180
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Chairman of the nomination and compensation committee
Hans-Ulrich Müller 16'000
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors
Member nomination and compensation committee
Member of the audit committee
Hansjörg Sage 0
Member of the nomination and compensation committee
Gerhard Tröster 35'760
Member of the Board of Directors
Soo Boon Quek 0
Member of the Board of Directors
Jürg Stahl 0
Chairman of the audit committee

Total Non-Executive members of the Board of Directors 79'940                             

The shares held by Non-Executive members of the Board of Directors are subject to a lock up agreement for 365 days
from October 26, 2007.

- Shareholdings Executive Committee (including Executive members of the Board of Directors)

Number of
u-blox Holding AG

shares as per
December 31, 2007

Thomas Seiler 96'118
Member of the Board of Directors
CEO
Head of Marketing and Sales
Jean-Pierre Wyss 75'110
Member of the Board of Directors
CFO
Head of Production / Logistics
Andreas Thiel 73'710
Executive Vice President (R&D Hardware)
Daniel Ammann 73'710
Executive Vice President (R&D Software)

Total Executive Committee (incl. Executive members of the Board of Directors 318'648                           

The shares held by the Executive Committee are subject to a lock up agreement for 365 days from October 26, 2007.

- Shareholdings of members of the Board of Directors, Executive Committee or persons related to them

Related persons and companies are family members and persons or companies which can exercise a
significant influence over the Group. Transactions with related persons and companies must be settled on
an arms length basis.

Apart from the compensation paid to the Board of Directors and Executive Committee and the regular
contributions to the various pension fund institutions, no transactions with related persons or companies
took place.

- Shareholdings Non-Executive members of the Board of Directors

Number of
u-blox Holding AG

shares as per
December 31, 2007

Edzard Reuter 28'180
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Chairman of the nomination and compensation committee
Hans-Ulrich Müller 16'000
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors
Member nomination and compensation committee
Member of the audit committee
Hansjörg Sage
Member of the nomination and compensation committee
Gerhard Tröster 35'760
Member of the Board of Directors
Soo Boon Quek
Member of the Board of Directors
Jürg Stahl
Chairman of the audit committee

Total Non-Executive members of the Board of Directors 79'940

The shares held by Non-Executive members of the Board of Directors are subject to a lock up agreement for 365 days
from October 26, 2007.

- Shareholdings Executive Committee (including Executive members of the Board of Directors)

Number of
u-blox Holding AG

shares as per
December 31, 2007

Thomas Seiler 96'118
Member of the Board of Directors
CEO
Head of Marketing and Sales
Jean-Pierre Wyss 75'110
Member of the Board of Directors
CFO
Head of Production / Logistics
Andreas Thiel 73'710
Executive Vice President (R&D Hardware)
Daniel Ammann 73'710
Executive Vice President (R&D Software)

Total Executive Committee (incl. Executive members of the Board of Directors) 318'648

The shares held by the Executive Committee are subject to a lock up agreement for 365 days from October 26, 2007.
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Neither u-blox Holding AG nor its corporate subsidiaries granted any guarantees, loans, advances or credit
facilities to members of the Executive Committee or the Board of Directors or any related parties.

The Executive Committee or Board of Directors did not hold any option rights on u-blox Holding AG shares
at December 31, 2007.

In 2007, u-blox Holding AG did not make any severance payments or other payments to members of the
Board of Directors or Executive Committee who left the company in the period under review or earlier.

7 Events after the balance sheet date 

There were no events between December 31, 2007 and March 17, 2008 that would require an adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities or that would need to be disclosed under this heading.

There are no further facts present that would require disclosure according to Article 663 b of the Swiss
Code of Obligations.

PROPOSAL OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR APPROPRIATION OF RETAINED EARNINGS 2007 

(in CHF) 2007

Net profit for the period 167'661

Retained earnings 167'661

To be carried forward 167'661

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting the following appropriation 
of retained earnings as at December 31, 2007

 

PROPOSAL OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR APPROPRIATION OF RETAINED EARNINGS 2007 

September 21,
 - December 31,

(in CHF) 2007

Net profit for the period 167'661

Retained earnings 167'661

To be carried forward 167'661

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting the following appropriation 
of retained earnings as at December 31, 2007
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3 Year Overview

Condensed Adjusted Consolidated Income Statement Data

(in CHF 000s) 2007 2006 2005

Sales 78'360 54'380 34'267
% growth 44.1% 58.7%
Cost of sales -47'792 -31'719 -20'426

Gross profit 30'568 22'661 13'841
%gross profit margin 39.0% 41.7% 40.4%

Operating expenses -18'541 -14'645 -10'150

Profit from operations (EBIT) 12'027 8'016 3'691
% EBIT margin 15.3% 14.7% 10.8%

Financial income 665 256 51
Finance costs -1'117 -437 -1668

Profit before income taxes (EBT) 11'575 7'835 2'074
% EBT margin 14.8% 14.4% 6.1%

Income taxes 1'190 404 1'449

Net profit 12'765 8'239 3'523
% net profit margin 16.3% 15.2% 10.3%

Depreciation and amortization 3'346 1'920 860
EBITDA (unaudited) 15'373 9'936 4'551
% EBITDA margin 19.6% 18.3% 13.3%

Note: Adjustments are specified in the Review Fiscal Year 2007 section

For the year ended December 31,

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

(in CHF 000s) 2007 2006 2005

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 85'922 16'011 8'697
Other current assets 15'350 12'889 11'990
Total current assets 101'272 28'900 20'687

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 2'511 1'029 540
Intangible assets 3'129 2'637 1'332
Financial assets 247 161 119
Deferred tax assets 6'034 4'508 4'186
Total non-current assets 11'921 8'335 6'177

Total assets 113'193 37'235 26'864

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities 14'210 7'577 4'927
Non-current liabilities 1'381 1'216 1'466
Total liabilities 15'591 8'793 6'393

Shareholders' equity
Share capital 5'619 4'226 4'145
Share premium 101'860 39'504 38'687
Cumulative translation differences 156 249 262
Accumulated losses -10'033 -15'537 -22'623
Total equity 97'602 28'442 20'471

Total liabilities and equity 113'193 37'235 26'864

At December 31,

Condensed consolidated cash flow statement data Condensed consolidated cash flow statement data
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u-blox Holding AG
Ticker details for u-blox shares

Listing   SWX Swiss Exchange
Ticker Symbol  UBXN
ISIN-No.   CH0033361673
Swiss Security-No. 3336167
Reuters   UBXN S
Bloomberg  UBXN SW

Corporate address

u-blox Holding AG
Zürcherstrasse 68
CH-8800 Thalwil
Phone +41 44 722 74 44
Fax +41 44 722 74 47

Investor relations

Jean-Pierre Wyss
Chief Financial Officer
Email:  jean-pierre.wyss@u-blox.com

Website

www.u-blox.com

Important dates

April 29, 2008:
Annual General Meeting

September 5, 2008:
Half-year results

Investor Information & Contacts

Condensed Consolidated Cash Flow Statement Data

(in CHF 000s) 2007 2006 2005

Net cash provided by operating activities 16'663 8'775 2'000

Net cash used in investing activities -4'974 -558 -4'858

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 58'870 -814 7'581

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 70'559 7'403 4'723

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 16'011 8'697 3'811

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and -648 -89 163
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 85'922 16'011 8'697

For the year ended December 31,

Condensed consolidated cash flow statement data
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Disclaimer

This document contains certain forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking 
statements reflect the current views of management and are subject to known 
and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results, 
performance or achievements of the u-blox Group to differ materially from those 
expressed or implied. These include risks related to the success of and demand for the 
Group’s products, the potential for the Group’s products to become obsolete, the Group’s 
ability to defend its intellectual property, the Group’s ability to develop and commercialize 
new products in a timely manner, the dynamic and competitive environment in which the 
Group operates, the regulatory environment, changes in currency exchange rates, the 
Group’s ability to generate revenues and profitability, and the Group’s ability to realize its 
expansion projects in a timely manner. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties 
materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary 
materially from those described in this report. u-blox is providing the information in this 
release as of this date and does not undertake any obligation to update any forward-
looking statements contained in it as a result of new information, future events or 
otherwise. 

Imprint

Publisher / Copyright: 2008 u-blox Holding AG, Thalwil, Switzerland.

your position 
        is our focus
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http://www.u-blox.com

